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21,601

BEBER

Salesperson’s Licence

18,261

HERE (EA) MR

Estate Agent’s Licence (individual)

1 3,804

WERE (A7) BR

Estate Agent’s Licence (company)

7,078 =1

EHEIEHAE
Statement of particulars of business

5,479

HEREEREDR

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination

6,764

BXBEREA

Salespersons Qualifying Examination

=1 291
?|L,) B97 #9{E Opened

333
2 5eR Y EZE* Completed* __E_Q

¥ EORAFEENER  EhERREERKIYEN TLERES
BRIRE(EER - AR IR AR R TER IR MR E IR TR MY (ESR ©

* Some cases completed in the year were brought forward from
previous years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and
dealt with by the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases
disposed of by the Complaints and Enforcement Sections.

KEIRE (2018/19FE)

Number of Compliance Inspections (2018/19)

. 3,913

4425 Total

1,374

—FERHER
At First-sale Sites*

=) 1,878

uud
UUU) mErmes

At Estate Agency Shops

661 [s5)

Online Advertisements

D

* BERRMAER  BREHERERENE -
* Includes the development sites, sales offices and
vicinity areas.

WER B HENEREE (2018/195E)

Number of Licences Suspended /
Revoked (2018/19)

A
24

M $H Suspended

o
34 X

4 Revoked

BESEEETENSEAR (2018/195E)

Number of Enrolments in Continuing

Professional Development Activities (2018/19)

=) 34,569
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About Us

The Estate Agents Authority (“‘EAA”) is a statutory body established
in November 1997 under the Estate Agents Ordinance ("EAQ").
lts principal functions are to regulate the practice of the estate
agency trade in Hong Kong, promote integrity and competence
within the industry, and facilitate training for practitioners to
ensure a proper standard of conduct.

The EAA organises qualifying examinations, issues licences to
individuals and companies, handles complaints against licensees,
conducts compliance inspections and metes out disciplinary
sanctions to practitioners who have breached the EAO. The EAA
also organises activities for the professional development of the
trade and promotion of consumer education.

The EAA is a self-financing body. It consists of a Chairman, a Vice-
chairman, and not more than 18 ordinary members from various
sectors in the community, including the estate agency sector.
The Chairman, Vice-chairman and every ordinary member are
appointed by the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.
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FE= B {E A Vision & Mission

BAMNESR Our Vision

EERIIRN The EAA strives for

- EREMERERROBPE LEK - excellence in regulating the practice of the estate agency
BHKE  MREEEENEZ trade, for the protection of consumers’ interests; and
)53

XM ERIEEENHEE - A8 - supporting the development of an estate agency profession

BHEESE - worthy of the respect of the community.
B ED Our Mission

HERBHENRIBENRE  BAKE To regulate the practice of estate agency in Hong Kong, raise the
BWMEEE N WAXATLamERE competence of practitioners and set high standards of ethics and
TEAERIRST o conduct befitting the trade.

WERBEEE 201819 8 O
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As the regulator of the estate agency trade in Hong Kong, the
Estate Agents Authority ("EAA”") is charged with the responsibility
for ensuring proper trade practices and conduct for the protection
of consumers’ interests. This is an on-going challenge because
estate agents often deploy different and sometimes questionable
tactics in the competitive market. The EAA will monitor their
marketing tactics and respond swiftly to halt practices considered
not in order.

Getting through a volatile year with
determination

The Hong Kong property market cooled off slightly in 2018.
However, by spring 2019, a revived rally started to take hold
again. First-hand residential properties remained the most sought
after due chiefly to the down payment schemes provided by
developers. Transactions in the second-hand market remained
sluggish because sellers were reluctant to sell at a low price and
potential buyers had difficulties raising sufficient cash to satisfy the
down-payment requirements.

Despite the market performance, the number of licensed estate
agents reached a record high towards the end of 2018 but showed
a mild decline thereafter. There was however no clear correlation
between the licensee numbers and the property market.

As estate agents reacted to the changing environment, the EAA
introduced several new measures to ensure that the estate agency
trade continued to operate orderly and smoothly.

Challenges and improvements

For the first time, the Financial Action Task Force (“FATF")
extended its coverage to the estate agency sector to evaluate
the effectiveness of its anti-money laundering ("AML") and
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FREHIEE Chairman’s Message

counter-terrorist financing ("CTF") systems. Last year, the Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
2018 extended the statutory customer due diligence and record
keeping requirements to certain non-financial professions
including solicitors, accountants, estate agents, and trust, or
company service providers. Although it was a challenge for both
the EAA and the trade it also meant that the professionalism of
the trade is taking shape and the trade must gradually advance
itself to match the standards of other professions. Through a
series of measures, such as issuing guidelines, conducting training
sessions and compliance inspections, the trade’s awareness of
AML/CTF risks was raised. Trade representatives were equipped
with the relevant knowledge before they met with the FATF at the
evaluation session. Regardless of the outcome of the evaluation,
the EAA will continue to educate the trade to improve their
knowledge on the subject.

WEREEEE 2018-19 8 O
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Responding to the order issue at the sales-sites of first-hand
residential properties, the EAA saw the need to seek the
cooperation of developers to restrain the behaviour of estate
agents carrying out work on their sites. The signing of the First-
sales Charter with 34 developers last year sent a strong message to
the public and the trade that both the EAA and the participating
developers would not condone any unruly behavior of estate
agents when promoting first-hand residential properties.
Following the Charter and the issuance of a new practice circular
imposing stricter requirements, the order at the first-sale sites was
significantly improved.

The EAA also dealt with a long-term bad habit of the trade, which
was the accuracy issue of property advertisements. During the
year, the EAA issued a new practice circular setting out further
guidelines on issuing property advertisements, which was aimed
at stopping the practice of using sham listings or fake listing prices
to lure customers or allowing obsolete advertisements to remain
for months or years. As these practices are unprofessional and
damage the credibility of the trade, we were glad to see gradual
improvements.

The EAA has been concerned about the unpleasant experiences
Hong Kong consumers have had in purchasing non-local
properties. While such properties are outside of the EAA’s purview
unless our licensees are involved in the sales, it is still difficult if not
entirely impossible for the EAA to protect their buyers in the way
it is protecting Hong Kong consumers in their property purchases
in Hong Kong. Nonetheless, the EAA issued guidelines for its
licensees and warned them to put in extra effort in protecting
Hong Kong consumers if they are involved in such sales activities.
The EAA will continue to assist the government in educating
the public that the consumers involved in such transactions
should engage local professionals to assist with their purchase
transactions.
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FREEIEE Chairmon'’s Message

Promoting the “5A” agent

All the EAA’s work paves the way for a more professional trade and
better consumer protection. There are professional estate agents
in the business that provide five-star quality services and should
be acknowledged. In order to educate consumers to identify a
high calibre estate agent, the EAA launched a publicity campaign
promoting the “5A" qualities of a professional estate agent.
Through the campaign, we also aim to remind estate agents of the
required qualities of a competent “5A” agent and the need to serve
customers better.

HEREEER 2018-19 FiH
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Complicated business ahead

To do a good job as a regulator the EAA must respond to new
market trends and estate agency practices. For example, the new
sales strategy of using a closed bidding process in the sale of first-
hand residential properties by property developers has been
questioned due to a lack of transparency of the prevailing prices
for these properties. In addition, the role of estate agents assisting
in the process is also under scrutiny. The EAA will closely monitor
the situation and take any appropriate action, if necessary.

Closing

In closing, I would like to thank each and every one of our Board
Members for his/her time and selfless contributions, in particular,
those members who have retired during the year. | also welcome
our new members to our Board, Ms Meena DATWANI, Professor
Eddie HUI Chi-man, MH and Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP.

My heartfelt gratitude also goes to the Transport and Housing
Bureau, estate agency practitioners, trade associations, developers
and all our other stakeholders, for their continuous support.

A new page was turned this year as we finally moved some of our
staff from the city centre into our own office, which the EAA had
planned for two decades. From here we are well placed to face
the challenges and issues that will arise due to an ever-increasing
demand on our human resources.
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Last but not least, special thanks must go to Ms Ruby HON Yuen-
ping, the EAA Chief Executive Officer and all EAA colleagues under
her able leadership. Without their dedication and commitment,
our work would not have been accomplished.

With our collaborative efforts and support, the EAA will continue to
improve the practice of the estate agency trade, so consumers will
be better protected in property transactions.

Professor William LEUNG Wing-cheung, sBs, Jp
Chairman
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| am delighted to present the sixth annual report as the Chief
Executive Officer ("CEQ") of the Estate Agents Authority (“EAA”).
Through the changing fortunes of the economy and rising
expectations of consumers, the EAA remains, as always, dedicated
to regulating the estate agency trade, upholding the trade’s
professionalism and enhancing consumer education. Here | would
like to give a brief account of our work on various fronts over the
year.

Market overview

Under the volatile market conditions in 2018/19, the total number
of property transactions decreased, amounting to 75,115, which
was lower than that of 2017/18 by 13.1%. The total consideration
also decreased by 4.9% to $726 billion. With high property prices
in Hong Kong, more individual investors shifted their focus to non-
local properties.

While the number of licensees hit a record high, exceeding forty
thousand to 40,142 in November 2018, there was a downward
adjustment starting from the beginning of 2019 and the drop
has continued for a few months. However, as at the end of March
2019, the total number of individual licensees reached 39,862,
which is a slight 3% higher than the number at the same date of
the previous year. In addition, the overall number of candidates
participating in the qualifying examinations showed a slight
increase of 0.5% when compared with the previous year.

The EAA as an effective gatekeeper

One of the key roles of the EAA is to ensure compliance of the
trade. To heighten the estate agency trade’s vigilance against non-
compliances and to enhance the professional standard of the
trade, the EAA issued two new practice circulars in 2018/19, one
on “Property Advertisements” and the other on the “Order at First-
sale Sites of Residential Properties”.
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During the year, the EAA conducted a total of 3,252 inspections
to ensure the trade’s compliance, which was a 6.7% increase
compared to the previous year. Among these inspections, 1,374
checks were conducted at first-sale sites and 1,878 visits were paid
to estate agency shops. In addition, the EAA also screened online
property advertisements 661 times and conducted 364 inspections
of online property portals during the year.

During these inspections, the EAA discovered 149 non-compliant
cases, of which 14 cases arose from first-sale inspections, which
was a very good improvement (a decrease of 57.6%) compared to
the previous year. It is probably due to the Charter on the Sales of
First-hand Residential Properties the EAA signed with 34 property
developers in 2018, as well as the new licensing policy in which
the licences of those licensees convicted of any offence involving
violence when conducting estate agency work will be revoked and
will not be granted a new one within five years. Both measures
deterred unruly behaviour of our licensees in the first-sale sites.

Furthermore, the EAA received 291 complaints in 2018/19, also a
noticeable decrease of 32% from 425 complaints in 2017/18. The
complaints concerning the sale of first-hand residential properties
also recorded a year-on-year decrease of 62.3%. The common
categories of complaints included mishandling the provisional
agreement for sale and purchase/provisional tenancy agreement,
providing inaccurate or misleading property information and
failing to enter into an estate agency agreement with clients or
explain the agreement to clients.

In 2018/19, the EAA revoked a total of 34 licences because those
licensees were no longer eligible to hold a licence. The EAA has
also adjudicated 184 non-compliant cases and a total of 180
licensees were disciplined.

HEREEER 2018-19 FF
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Enhancing the professionalism of the trade

In 2018, the EAA invested plenty of time and resources to
prepare itself and the trade for the enactment of the Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial
Institutions) (Amendment) Ordinance 2018 as the Ordinance
extended the statutory due diligence and record keeping
requirements to the estate agency trade. Prior to the mutual
evaluation with the Financial Action Task Force, both the EAA and
the participating trade representatives made their best efforts in
countless preparatory meetings for the mutual evaluation. The
EAA appreciated the efforts and support of the participating trade
representatives.

As well as the above, the EAA has also rolled out a number of
educational and awareness building measures for licensees. The
EAA will continue to educate the trade and conduct prudential
visits to make sure of the trade’s compliance in the subject.



1T AAELFE 3R Report of the Chief Executive Officer

EERFEANEMTEREERESRLE
BEEEETE . NE—SRAFEA
HIFEZENKF - B2013F 1081 Hi#E » BE
—FES A FERIFEEXEEETEER
A - BEo R ERSEREEE
BB REIREINIEE] - &
R R2018F - BRisREKTETEE
(EFTEIE MR AEEE] [2F]
SEBBIFEAEEIRE] - 20185 -
EERMEREBEABHEEBEERME
TREGEERETET RSB HERBER
AHMEREBHXERESEBTIRANRE
BEBEBHRE c HELEEET  2018-19
FEHREE RS EREE BB
MR A ABERBREEE LT -

IR RNRER

7{55 ﬂl?’f‘hfiijl /E?—r%ﬁﬁﬁ
a%iﬁﬁ?%ﬁﬁ% ﬁé%ﬁ%%
RN METEM R EAEFFEAS

= A
RS NEEE -

\

R BEERTHEEZSBERERAIER
HEE  HEHEEER  ARS

FEEERORE - FA é%ﬁ
BpFEEhe  HhHARMNHERS
ZHE B 0 W NETRNREER
BREZNNE  SEEBEEEEHNE
AT T -

As regards the EAA’s other work in the year, the EAA continued
to optimise the Continuing Professional Development (“CPD")
Scheme to further enhance the professional standard of licensees.
Since 1 October 2013, licensees who have achieved their CPD
attainment targets for three or five consecutive CPD periods will be
awarded the “Silver” and “Gold" Premium CPD Attainment Symbol
respectively. As a result, 275 licensees who had achieved the CPD
attainment target were awarded the first batch of the Gold Symbol
in 2018, while another batch of 98 licensees were awarded the
Silver Symbol. The EAA also established a strategic partnership
with the HKU School of Professional and Continuing Education and
the Institute for Entrepreneurship of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University respectively to offer a wider variety of CPD courses for
the estate agency trade practitioners in 2018. With these initiatives,
the number of licensees attending the seminars of the EAA's CPD
Scheme showed considerable improvement in 2018/19.

Reaching out to the trade and the public

To maintain a two-way communication with the estate agency
trade, the EAA continued to hold liaison meetings with trade
associations and meet frontline licensees in various districts
through focus group meetings held with them during the year.

At the same time, the EAA also continued its efforts in promoting
consumer related information and raising awareness of the EAA
through collaborations with the media and other initiatives. In the
year, the EAA organised press conferences, issued a number of
press releases, arranged feature interviews, and contributed plenty
of articles to various media columns to promote consumer related
information and the EAA’s work.

HEREEER 2018-19 FiH
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The EAA also launched a publicity campaign to promote the
“5A" qualities that a professional estate agent should possess and
organised two public seminars titled “Be a Smart Purchaser of First-
hand Property (Advanced)” and “Know the risks when purchasing
properties situated outside Hong Kong”, both of which received a
positive response from the public.

Forward planning

In 2018, the EAA was excited to acquire for the first time its own
permanent office and, as a result, about half of the EAA staff were
relocated from the current rented office at the Hopewell Centre to
the new office in Chai Wan in August 2018.

In addition, to provide another option and flexibility for candidates,
the EAA will launch a new pilot scheme of computer-based
examinations for the Salespersons Qualifying Examination in
mid-2019. After reviewing the response from candidates and the
implementation of the pilot scheme, the EAA will further decide its
scale in the future.

As the subject of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing is a continuing mission that both the EAA and the trade
have to fulfil, the EAA will strive to educate the trade and enhance
their understanding of the money laundering and terrorist
financing risks. In addition, the EAA will also step up consumer
education on purchasing properties situated outside Hong Kong.

Closing - Acknowledgements and the EAA’s
Commitment

The year in review has been challenging both for the EAA and
the trade. | am, as always, grateful to the Board for their input,
guidance and support, in particular, the EAA Chairman and
all other Members. My gratitude also goes to the EAA’s staff,
who continued to work with dedication, determination and
commitment throughout the year.
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&g - WERMZEEEARARES - UK Finally, | extend my thanks to you, for taking an interest in reading
HEER—BKEN BETBUEZ=S my report and being a part of the EAA’'s development journey.
B EERBGEERNEAEIER  The EAA will continue to strive to meet the changing needs of our
Bt BYBERMSBARE - ARG community and closely monitor market changes, as well as deter
IFHBEERNERTR  NIREFHME any non-compliance in the trade responsively and efficiently, with
REXANFHEKENREBEE RS a view to continuously enhancing the trade’s professionalism and

£ - consumer protection in Hong Kong.
Ly ped Ruby HON Yuen-ping
TR Chief Executive Officer

(BIHE) BEE BT HRARED L+
= (BEER) BERRBAETIERAL BTREXBREEFZRLZTURRER LR ERBE L
EAA Chief Executive Officer Ms Ruby Hon (front row)

_EAA Director of Services Mr lvan Wong, Director of Operations and Professional Development Ms Annie Fonda

and Director of Regulatory Affairs and General Counsel Ms Juliet Leung (from left, back row)
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Stakeholders

(e.g. the public, trade

and the Government)
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To enhance public trust in the EAA and for the best interests
of its stakeholders, the EAA spares no effort in taking corporate
governance to a higher level and reaching a high standard of
integrity, impartiality, accountability and transparency when
discharging its duties under the Estate Agents Ordinance ("EAQ").

Governance Framework

Governance structure

The EAA Board, Standing Committees and Working Panel

e Strategic Development and Management Committee
Disciplinary Committee
Licensing Committee
Practice and Examination Committee
Professional Development Committee

Section 28 Investigation Panel

BT
Supervision and Guidance

GlkCagezpii
Checks and Balances

The Ombudsman'’s Review

o IRESE R o
o bR G
o MERER .

Appeals
External Audit
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The EAA Board and composition

The Board

The highest decision-making authority of the EAA is the Board. It
sets the overall strategic direction and policies of the EAA, such
as considering and endorsing its corporate plan, annual work
plan and annual budget. It also supervises and monitors the
performance of the EAA Administration.

Board composition

The constitution of the EAA Board is stipulated by the EAO. The
EAA Board consists of a Chairman, a Vice-chairman, and not
more than 18 ordinary members from different sectors of the
community, including the estate agency sector and the Transport
and Housing Bureau. All Board members are determined and
appointed for a fixed term by the Chief Executive of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. After appointment, new
Board members will be provided with briefings and information
packages by the EAA Administration to familiarise themselves with
the work of the EAA.

Board members come from varied backgrounds with diverse
knowledge, experience and expertise, including the sectors of
real estate agency, business, legal, surveying, finance, accounting
professions and academia. They bring to the Board their own
wisdom and independent perspectives. The combination of
members from within and outside the estate agency trade also
provides the Board with a more balanced and holistic view when
setting policies and identifying measures. The names and details
of all current Board members are listed in the next section of this
report.

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ")
of the EAA are held by different persons and their roles are
segregated. The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board
in enforcing the EAQ, setting strategies and policies for the EAA,
while the CEO is the head of the EAA Administration responsible
for executing the decisions of the Board and administering
everyday business and affairs of the EAA.

HEREEER 2018-19 F#
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(2201943 A31H)
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SNES /) (£2018F6 A30H)

s CEEFREREZE

Professor William LEUNG Wing-cheung,

SBS, JP

Executive Director and Chief Executive, Welab
Virtual Bank

e Chairman, Employees Retraining Board
(Up to 31 March 2019)

e Advisor, Our Hong Kong Foundation

e Chairman, Governing Board of Hong Kong
Creative Arts Centre Limited

e Ex-officio Member, Manpower
Development Committee
(Up to 31 March 2019)

e Co-opted Member, Youth Education,
Employment and Training Task Force of the
Commission on Poverty
(Up to 30 June 2018)

e Member, Advisory Board of Yan Oi Tong
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Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP
Barrister-at-law

e Chairman, Licensing Appeals Board

e Deputy Chairman, Board of Review
(Inland Revenue Ordinance)

e Deputy Chairman, Administrative Appeals
Board

e Chairman, Committee on Mediation of
Hong Kong Bar Association

e Member, Advisory Committee on Travel
Agents

e Member, Professional Services Advisory
Committee of Hong Kong Trade
Development Council
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Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP

Consultant of Kwok, Yih & Chan
(From 1 June 2019)

Of Counsel, Jones Day International
Law Firm (Up to 31 May 2019)

e Member, Solicitors Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel

e Chairman, Appeal Tribunal Panel

(Buildings)

e Member, Appeal Panel (Housing)

(Up to 31 March 2019)

e Chairman, Appeal Panel (Housing)

(from 1 April 2019)

e Chairman, Fishermen Claims
Appeal Board (Trawl Ban)

e Adjudicator, Registration of
Persons Tribunal (2008-14)

e Observer, Independent Police
Complaints Council
(from 1 April 2019)
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o FBHHEBZRRKE
Ms Meena DATWANI

Senior Advisor (Financial Services

Regulatory Affairs), Ernst & Young

e Member, White Paper Advisory
Council, Private Wealth
Management Association

e Board Member, Pathfinders
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Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man,
MH

Professor, The Hong Kong

Polytechnic University

e Non-Executive Director, Urban
Renewal Authority

e Member, Supervisory Board,
Hong Kong Housing Society

e Member, The Property
Management Services
Authority

e  Member, Committee on
Real Estate Investment
Trusts, Securities and Futures
Commission

e (Chairman, Research
Committee of Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors

e Member, Appeal Tribunal
Panel (Buildings)
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Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC

Senior Counsel, Des Voeux Chambers

Deputy Judge, the High Court
(2017-18)

Chairperson, Insurance Appeals
Tribunal

Chairman, Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings)

Member of the Independent Police
Complaints Council and Chairman
of the Legal Committee

Deputy Chairman, Administrative
Appeals Board

Member, Disciplinary Chair
Committee, Securities and Futures
Commission
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. EEBPHEDESEERNE
(2006-12)

Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Retired Assurance Partner,
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Independent Non-executive Director
and Audit Committee Chairperson,
Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited

e Council Member and Audit
Committee Chairperson, The
Education University of Hong Kong

e Member, Hospital Governance
Committee, Kwong Wah Hospital
& TWGHs Wong Tai Sin Hospital,
Hospital Authority

e Member, Appeal Board Panel
(Town Planning)

e Council Member and Audit
Committee Member, Hong Kong
Federation of Youth Groups

e Executive Committee Member,
Hong Kong Youth Hostels
Association

e Board Member, HKSAR Employees
Compensation Assistance Fund
Board (2006-12)
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Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP

Barrister-at-law

Chairman, Accreditation of
Academic and Vocational
Qualifications Appeal Board
Chairman, Security and
Guarding Services Industry
Authority

Member, The Torture Claims
Appeal Board

Member, Independent Police
Complaints Council
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o EEEFTEE (1994-95)

s NS EPERZESHETE
(1995-96)

Mr NG Kai-man

Chief Executive Officer, Century 21

Hong Kong Limited

e Director, Pok Oi Hospital (1994-95)

e Co-chairman, Community Chest
Estates for the Chest Committee
(1995-96)
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Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP
Deputy Chairman of Sino Group

e Member, The 13" Beijing
Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference

e Chairman, Greater Area Bay
Homeland Youth Community
Foundation

e  Member, World Wide Fund for
Nature Hong Kong Trustee

e Member, Hong Kong
Committee for UNICEF Council

e Director, The Community Chest
of Hong Kong

e Member of the Executive
Committee, Hong Kong Sheng
Kung Hui Welfare Council
Limited

HIBE A Corporate Governance
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o LFZEG(BE)ERE
(2007-13)

o LFZBECRMREEZE
(2013-17)

Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu,
BBS, JP

Partner, Hastings & Co.

e Chairman, Environmental
Impact Assessment Appeal
Board Panel

e Deputy Chairman, HKSAR
Passports Appeal Board

e Chairman, Board of Review
(Film Censorship)

e  Member, The Torture Claims
Appeal Board

e Chairman, Appeal Panel
(Housing) (2007-13)

e Member, Appeal Board Panel
(Town Planning) (2013-17)
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o HAMEMRIEMAESEIF(2015-
19)
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EZeRRERFZEE®ZE(2013-
19)

o AMIEERIVIEELE

Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

CEO, Ka Wai Property Agency Co. Ltd.

CEO, Ka Hing Properties Co. Ltd.

e Honorary Chairman, Hong Kong
Real Estate Agencies General
Association

e Chairman, Hong Kong Real Estate
Agencies General Association
(2015-19)

e Member, Sedentary and
Professional Services Safety and
Health Committee, Occupational
Safety & Health Council (2013-19)

e Chairman, Incorporated Owners of

Garden Rivera
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o REFEBLFEZEKE

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

General Manager, Commercial
Banking Department, Bank of
China (Hong Kong) Limited

e Member, the Hong Kong
Export Credit Insurance
Corporation Advisory Board

e Member, Employees Retraining
Board

e Member, Insurance Appeals
Tribunal
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Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-
king, MH

President, Many Wells Property
Agent Limited

e Honorary President, Hong Kong
Chamber of Professional Property
Consultants Limited

e Convenor, Real Estate Agency,
Industry Consultative Networks,
Employees Retraining Board

e Member, Tuen Mun District
Coordination Mechanism, Social
Welfare Department

e Vice-President of The Federation
of Tuen Mun Association

e Vice-President of Tuen Mun
District JPC Honorary President
Council



BERRLZL

HEEZESHERSE

o HEEFNESEEZELENA
8

o REREBAZNEZESEE

o EHECREEBEIFRAAE
uﬁ]ﬁl‘gmgg

o IREXREESEEZESZE

s BRERYFHMEEZESZLE

o [HILEBRREELZEEES

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
Chief Executive, Consumer Council

e Ex Officio Member, Management
Committee of the Consumer Legal
Action Fund

e Member, Advisory Committee on
Travel Agents

e Member, Deposit-taking
Companies Advisory Committee,
Hong Kong Monetary Authority

e Member, Travel Industry
Compensation Fund Management
Board

e Member, Committee on Reduction
of Salt and Sugar in Food

e Member, Steering Committee on
Prevention and Control of Non-
communicable Diseases
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Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Executive Director, Wheelock and
Company Limited

Managing Director, Wheelock
Properties (HK) Limited

e Ex-officio member of the Social
Enterprise Advisory Committee of
Home Affairs Bureau

e Chairman, Advisory Committee
on Enhancing Self-Reliance
Through District Partnership
Programme, Home Affairs
Department

e Director, Hong Kong Green
Building Council

e General Committee Member,
Employers’ Federation of Hong
Kong

e Fellow Member, Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors
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Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung,
MH

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer —

Asia Pacific, Centaline Property Agency

Ltd

e Chairman, Centaline Charity Fund
Limited

e Hon. Chairman & Councillor,
POLCCEF Dialysis Centre

e Deputy President, Hong Kong
Professionals and Senior
Executives Association

e Member, Infrastructure
Development Advisory
Committee, Hong Kong Trade
Development Council

e Member, Council on Professional
Conduct in Education, Education
Bureau

e Member, Personal Data (Privacy)
Advisory Committee
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o ;J{jgg;é%%égﬁx LR E S e Deputy Secretary for Transport and
e o a Housing (Housing)

o (BB ETITEIEBEITE (Representative of Permanent
REEKE Secretary for Transport and

Housing (Housing))
Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong

Partner, Ernst & Young Advisory
Services Limited

e Member, Audit Sub Committee of
Housing Authority

e Member, Fisheries Development
Loan Fund Advisory Committee

e Member, Mainland Fishermen
Deckhands Scheme

e Observer, Independent Police
Complaints Council

e Member, Assessment Committee
of Exchanges with Taiwan Funding
Scheme

32 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19



MBS A Corporate Governance

PERHE
Professor CHAU Kwong-wing

RESHZEE AT H L
The Honorable Horace CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, JP

AIfEEE LT
Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching

REFEAF#@HLT
Mr YU Wai-wai, JP

HERERER 201819 F8 33



34

HHEE R Corporate Governance

=

EERATRALEERZESM—E
EE/E AEREEERTREBKEM
TE- BEAZE@AARI=ZHKE
ZEEMEKEEHEERESREME -

/!

[ =
N T 1

EEZRMATNRRERFNEERLE
BENERIENE BEFER TAZ
FIHEERKEMEMALT(BNESER
ZEKE)2EZET  EH/DHEIT
YE/NEENTHE - Blan - EERKIL T H
281GHAENE  BEERGEREEK
BIYEE2815IRTE 2 AEE HHFERIBR
ZNHEEEFERRITEE -2/ AR
2018/19FEWERHEE ©

FM2018F 11 AV HE » AT B R KRR
ZECHRARBEEREELZES
mEBESEE T EHLONE) - BEMA
BELGAEMEZE SN TREZRE
B NEZEERMNRKER -

2018/19FEEEREXRZEGREF N
HEEHIA T —EZE -

BESERKERE

VAR EREZEZ(E2018

F10H318)

B E

1. HREAREMTENERIESE
IERREERESRES -

2. BEREEMNMREE-RHERA
HEROR - ISR BE - BT
MXHEERMBIVANTE - 1]
BEH RENVBRENEESE
2 THRRRXEERETRE

N
sy
X ©

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Committees and panel

There are five standing committees and one working panel under
the EAA Board to oversee the various aspects of the EAA’s work. Al
committees shall consist of at least three members. All committee
members are appointed by the EAA Board.

The EAA Board may also set up panels and work groups to deal
with particular issues from time to time. When necessary, the EAA
may also appoint other persons (i.e. Board-appointed members)
who are not members of the EAA Board to the committees, panels
or work groups. For example, a Section 28 Investigation Panel
was set up to monitor the use of the investigative powers under
section 28 of the EAO. This Panel will only meet on a need basis. In
2018/19, there was no meeting held.

From 1 November 2018, the former Finance and Strategic
Development Committee was renamed as Strategic Development
and Management Committee, with certain changes made to its
terms of reference including the inclusion of a power to align the
different deliberations and activities of other committees with a
view to achieving the strategic goals of the EAA.

Terms of reference of the standing committees and working panel
of the EAAin 2018/19, are listed in the following section.

Terms of reference and membership

Finance and Strategic Development Committee (Till 31
October 2018)

Terms of Reference:
1. To consider strategic issues of long-term significance, in
preparation for consideration by the Board.

2. Toexamine issues of major financial significance, in particular,
draft statements of accounts, appointment of external
auditor, staff cost implications, budgetary matters, long-
term financial planning and asset management, and to make
recommendations to the Board for consideration.
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To oversee human resources management and to review and
approve establishment structure, reorganisation, manpower
planning and development of human resources policies and
procedures.

To examine issues of major significance in human resources
management, in particular, the pay structure, remuneration
and allowance policies and terms and conditions of
employment of the EAA employees (including the CEO and
Directors), and to make recommendations to the Board for
consideration.

At the direction of the Chairman, to review and evaluate
the performance of the CEO and Directors for the purpose
of confirmation of appointment, extension of probation,
promotion, dismissal, termination or renewal of employment
or other employment related issues and the granting of any
performance-linked awards, and to make recommendations
to the Board for consideration.

To review and endorse the annual work plan and budget
prepared by the Administration and to recommend the same
to the Board for consideration.

To devise guidelines for and make recommendations to the
Board on the investment of the EAA monies.

To monitor trade and community response to the EAA
regulations and policies and, on such basis, recommend
appropriate actions to the Board and/or the standing
committees for consideration.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

To perform such other tasks as the Board may from time to
time delegate.
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1. MABLAFE REZESTEEBE 1.
MENERERE, REEXERK
AR5

B & Membership:

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to
the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.

X & Chairman: K EF SBS A Fam+ Professor William LEUNG Wing-cheung, SBS, JP
REHSIZHE A4t The Honorable Horace CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, JP
RSy Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP
BILABNFHL Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP

P& Members: mERZ T Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
REFEAFHL Mr YU Wai-wai, JP
BRNERERHIMWER (BE)E | Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
& (Housing) or his representative

FHEREEMEEZEZ2 (82018

Strategic Development and Management Committee

F11A1H#) (Since 1 November 2018)
BiE#FE Terms of Reference:

1.

MRABREUEZENREIER
BABRREERESRER °

1.

To consider strategic issues of long-term significance, in
preparation for consideration by the Board.

2. HBAESTRNEEREES 2. To align the work and decisions of the various standing
M THENE " EENEHT committees and/or work groups/panels of the EAA with a
VEFIRE - LUEZHE B IEFMER view to achieving common goals and resolving divergences
AEEREABeAENKREBETH (if any) which may arise in connection with or out of the
AR aem A fe ol B HY 9 I (10 carrying out of their respective functions.

) -
3. BEEmmEB L NRATHESBEH 3. To monitor trade and community response to the EAA
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regulations, policies and measures and, on such basis,
recommend appropriate actions to the Board and/or the
standing committees for consideration.
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To examine issues of major financial significance, in particular,
draft statements of accounts, appointment of external
auditor, staff cost implications, budgetary matters, long-
term financial planning and asset management, and to make
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

To review and endorse the annual work plan and budget
prepared by the Administration and to recommend the same
to the Board for consideration.

To devise guidelines for and make recommendations to the
Board on the investment of the EAA monies.

To examine issues of major significance in human
resources management, in particular, the pay structure,
remuneration and allowance policies and terms and
conditions of employment of the EAA employees (including
the Chief Executive Officer and Directors), and to make
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

To review and approve establishment structure,
reorganisation, manpower planning and development of
human resources policies and procedures.

At the direction of the Chairman, to review and evaluate the
performance of the Chief Executive Officer and Directors for
the purpose of confirmation of appointment, extension of
probation, promotion, dismissal, termination or renewal of
employment or other employment related issues and the
granting of any performance-linked awards, and to make
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

WEREEER 2018-19 F#
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i

1. BMITHEEREEREERE®N 1. To perform such other tasks as the Board may from time to
TiE- time delegate.

12 WRRBE REEGTHEAER 12. To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to

BN NEREER HEER the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
R - when the Committee considers necessary.
X & Membership:
F & Chairman: K FEHIR SBS A4+ Professor William LEUNG Wing-cheung, SBS, JP
BRI Ms Imma LING Kit-sum
BEIRAFHt Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP
#ILEKR Tt Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP
P8 Members: 25 BBS AT+ Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
=R Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
BRHRNMNERBEIWER (BE)E | Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
K& (Housing) or his representative

WELZEE Disciplinary Committee

BiE#E - Terms of Reference:

1. RIMIESIMET - BARUATFRE 1. To draw up guidelines and procedures to ensure consistency
B—3m% - RIEBALAERMER - and fairess in handling disciplinary cases.

2. BX EZEENERAEERENZE 2. To receive, consider and inquire into complaints as
WHEZEE  REBEGHERIBIRD) mentioned in section 29(1) of the EAO and submissions
20N IEFTERY IR BF RCH E R 2 by the CEO as mentioned in section 29(2) of the EAO that
i1 )28 2902) IR R 1T IR AR 1 LH Y are referred by the EAA to the Committee, and to conduct
2 WEZEZFRFME M such inquiry as the Committee may think fit after having
% ETERAEENHA - considered such complaints and submissions.

3. EBEXRERPRIFEMERIESNE 3. To receive and inquire into complaints lodged against

¥EHRF RREBEER TR licensed estate agents or salespersons for breaches of the
MR E L RCRSTTAD - B Code of Ethics, practice circulars or guidelines issued to the
Ha ISl - trade from time to time by the EAA.

38 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19



MBS A Corporate Covernance

HHEE BRBECGHENREKRANDE
HFEZENFEE RN RE RE
E(EBFEBEAESNEEN) -
Z R IR IS BRI S8 BB ST
CHBEREBIEOIVESCHESR - #1T
HRAB BN -

ZIRGERIRIRGDE 301G T2
ERIHE TEERREEMNE
5 o

fi

BIBERAKEZBEEEZNTRAX
FEIBRFEARERHEMEZES -
PAESIET B SAEFTHR - R
BRO - IEMEBBAITEER
BLAE

TR EZ B E X F 3R —{E i
ZEEREEKNTENE - AH
TREEXFEMRIKNTIE  BFH
PR TSR - MERREER
RREE -

IRBHR R ESTEHERE
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To consider the reports and recommendations of the
investigator appointed by the EAA under section 28 of the
EAQ, with referral by the Section 28 Investigation Committee,
to look into suspected and alleged breaches or non-
compliance of the provisions of the EAO and to conduct
such inquiry as the Committee may think fit after having
considered such reports and recommendations.

To exercise any of the disciplinary powers provided
under section 30 of the EAO as the Committee considers
appropriate.

To attach to licences such conditions as the Committee may
consider appropriate.

To refer from time to time cases of malpractice or complaints
considered by the Committee to other committees for
formulation and/or revision of policies, practice or regulations
for better discharge of the EAA’s functions.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to

the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.
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RE(Z2018F10H310) :
Membership (Till 31 October 2018):
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F /& Chairman:

X 8 Members:

bt

BERELE

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY = ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP

Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP

Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC

Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP

Mr NG Kai-man

Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching

Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong

Ms Doreen KONG Yuk-foon

Mr Alex LAl Sze-wai

Mr LIU Chi-ming
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Membership (Since 1 November 2018):
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£ & Chairman: BEIK it
kEERAFAL
ekt

SR XX MH
EREERAEAD
BILERN ML
RMRELE
ALK L
il NERS 5E 4
STEEIE L MH
BEMEREMH
RHEF KL

X & Members:

BERELE

TERESLE

Mrs Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP

Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
Ms Meena DATWANI

Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man, MH
Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC

Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP

Mr NG Kai-man

Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP

Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong

Mr Alex LAl Sze-wai

Mr LIU Chi-ming

Mr Newman WONG
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Licensing Committee
Terms of Reference:

1.

To consider and recommend licensing requirements for
estate agents and salespersons.

To consider and recommend the criteria for exemption from
the licensing requirements for any particular class of persons.

To instruct the EAA Administration to process applications for
licences/statements of particulars of business (“SPOBs”) and
to grant or renew such licences/SPOBs to applicants meeting
the licensing requirements.

To consider and if thought appropriate, to approve or
refuse applications for licences/SPOBs brought before the
Committee.

To exercise and perform any and such of the EAA’s functions
and powers under sections 17, 23, 24, 25 and 27 of the EAO
and section 9 of the Estate Agents (Licensing) Regulation.

To set policies relating to licensing matters.

To review and make recommendations on the scale of
licence fees and charges for services provided by the EAA.

To consider and design the relevant forms and related
documents pertaining to licensing matters.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to
the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.
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RE(Z2018F108310) :
Membership (Till 31 October 2018):

F & Chairman: EABEANT@L Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP
BERHI Professor CHAU Kwong-wing
REBERAFat Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
ZEBROZ T Ms Imma LING Kit-sum
HIBS 5T 4 Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

FX & Members:
EifiS 2 Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
mHBE Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu
EEHE S & MH Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH
R LZL Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong

o B RI=Am Sr Keith SIU Leung-hung

KE (82018511 A1 8i) :
Membership (Since 1 November 2018):

F & Chairman: EHERF@L Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP
REBERAFHLT Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
FFES SO MH Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man, MH
I NERS 5E 4 Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

X & Members: EifiN=2 Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
Exp Yietas Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu
=R ST E MH Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH
REF L Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong
R oo R 2R Sr Keith SIU Leung-hung
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Practice and Examination Committee
Terms of Reference:

1.

To draw up, review and revise code(s) of ethics governing the
conduct and practice of the estate agency trade.

To review and make recommendations on the regulations
under the EAO relating to the practice and operation of
estate agents.

To consider and review practices within the trade and
prepare or consider practice circulars or other guidelines on
various aspects of estate agency work from time to time.

To monitor compliance of the EAO and its subsidiary
legislations, code(s) of ethics, practice circulars or other
guidelines; and to liaise with the trade on ways to improve
the standard of practice and quality of service.

To determine the syllabi and fees for the qualifying
examinations for estate agents and salespersons.

To set the parameters for the administration of the qualifying
examinations.

To oversee and give direction to the EAA Administration in
the setting and moderation of examination questions and
determination of penalties for breaches of examination
regulations by candidates.

To review and determine the pass marks and commendation
marks for the qualifying examinations and, where
appropriate, those for each part thereof.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.
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KE (Z£2018%F10H31H) :

Membership (Till 31 October 2018):

10. To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to
the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.

F & Chairman: REEHEE Nt
BlEE =EHEZ T

Vice-chairman:
MR REIR
REERANTHEL
ERZE RN
RO
REEREE
RIEEEX L
FREFTBBS ATAL
W IETS SE 4
Btz g s
TEEE L MH
=R A
RIEHESTE MH

BX & Members:

(A3

BaMEEREIWER(FE)HE

The Honorable Horace CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, JP
Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han

Professor CHAU Kwong-wing
Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC
Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Mr NG Kai-man

Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching

Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing

(Housing) or his representative

Mr Richard LEE Chi-shing
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KE (82018511 A1 8i#) :
Membership (Since 1 November 2018):

F /& Chairman:
gIEfE

Vice-chairman:

X & Members:

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY

FIEFBRS A4+
=RIALZ L

REBERA Tt
ekt

AT NI MH
EREERAEAD
ERLZ T
KREREE

B ARFHAL
HIES 55 4
ML
I £ MH
BEHBEE
EEMESTE MH

BakFERTEEIWER(FE)HE

(A=

R STE

Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han

Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
Ms Meena DATWANI

Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man, MH
Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC

Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Mr NG Kai-man

Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP

Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing

(Housing) or his representative

Mr Richard LEE Chi-shing

Mr Daniel WONG Hon-shing
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MBS A Corporate Governance

Professional Development Committee
Terms of Reference:

1.

To examine the training needs and design appropriate
training programmes to raise the competence of licensees.

To oversee the implementation of the Continuing
Professional Development (“CPD") Scheme including—

a. conducting periodic reviews on its focus, scope and
requirements;

b.  determining guidelines for assigning Compliance and
Effective Management and All-round Advancement
activities;

c.  approving CPD activity providers and evaluating CPD
activities;

d.  adopting appropriate CPD activities of other professions
and trades into the CPD Scheme of the EAA; and

e.  monitoring the effectiveness of the CPD Scheme and
making recommendations to the Board as appropriate.

To advise on professional exchange activities and monitor
the administration of scheme(s) relating to reciprocal
recognition of professional qualifications for the estate
agency trade.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

To obtain such legal and/or expert advice as the Committee
may consider necessary for or in relation to the proper
discharge and exercise of the Committee’s functions and
powers.
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Mr YU Wai-wai, JP

Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC

Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Mr NG Kai-man

Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching

Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH

Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing

(Housing) or his representative

Mr Anthony KWOK Chong

Dr Horace YUEN Hoi-sing
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HRE (8201811 B1HiE) :
Membership (Since 1 November 2018):

F & Chairman: BRI T Ms Imma LING Kit-sum
Bt Ms Meena DATWANI
EREZRKNEA Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC
RERSSE Mr NG Kai-man
5 8 Members: AR T Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP
EifiS 2 Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
ESAEIE+ MH Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
BRNMNEERTIEMER (BE)ZFE  Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(e (Housing) or his representative

BRI E Mr Ivan IP Kwok-hung

2ol (BEImBERE) Representative of Vocational Training Council -
Mr Leslie LEUNG Kim-hang
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Section 28 Investigation Panel’
Terms of Reference:

1.

To formulate guidelines for and procedures on the selection
of cases for investigation under section 28 of the EAO.

To oversee the conduct of investigation under section 28 of
the EAO to ensure its full compliance.

To receive and consider reports and recommendations from
the EAA Administration on suspected or alleged cases of
breaches or non-compliance of a requirement(s) or other
provision(s) of the EAO warranting investigation under
section 28 of the EAQ.

To appoint investigator(s) under section 28 of the EAO to
conduct such investigation and carry out such duties as the
Panel considers necessary.

To receive and consider the reports and recommendations
from the investigator appointed by the Panel under section
28 of the EAO.

Where the investigator recommends to the Panel that the
exercise of disciplinary powers under section 30 of the EAO
should be considered, to refer the case to the Disciplinary
Committee for its consideration.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Panel Chairman, comprising any member(s) of the
Panel, to carry out such tasks as the Panel Chairman may
assign; to deliberate on the findings of the task force; and
to make recommendations to the Board for approval as
appropriate.

Not a standing committee, meet as and when needed. In 2018/19, there
was no meeting held.
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8. WRATE X BITHECGHEREF 8. To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to

Bl )28 28 fR PR B HY BS B R Bk BB A the exercise of the EAA’s functions and powers as prescribed
BNEEEER I HEEBRIMR by section 28 of the EAO as and when the Panel considers
% o necessary.

9. 1T REITCHIE IR IR 28 1 9. Toexercise and perform any and such of the EAA’s functions
FralBAMESE BB ReAIRE ) © and powers as prescribed by section 28 of the EAQ.

KE (Z£2018%F10H31H) :

Membership (Till 31 October 2018):

FE & Chairman: FREFBBS A4t Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
BERHI Professor CHAU Kwong-wing
RBEANFEHL Mr YU Wai-wai, JP

X & Members:

RE(EH2018F11 A1 HiE) :

Membership (Since 1 November 2018):

E & Chairman: EEFBRS A4t Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
) EifiN=2 Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
FX 8 Members:
R L Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong
SRHELE Meetings attendance
RBCHERIEGD) EEREEAR According to the EAO, the quorum for a meeting of the EAA shall

EEABELREEREBERKE AN be at least half of the members of the EAA for the time being
—F(BREERAEE(TH E%,\ (including the Chairman and the Vice-chairman whether present

B)) HEGENEERKESE — or not). Each member of the EAA present at a meeting thereof shall
wERE - have a vote.
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2018/195 8 - EERREREESNG In 2018/19, the number of meetings, the average attendance rates
BmAE - FPHEFEERNERXHEE ﬁﬂ and number of papers considered by the EAA Board and standing

N committees were as follows:
2RYE P HER RESZNMHHE
Number of Average Number of papers
meetings held attendance rate* considered
SR 3 78% 33
The EAA Board
REERLEEZEG™
Strategic Development and Management 2 71% 13
Committee**
:% 7 = 5 @***
ch=RET 1 569 5
Disciplinary Committee***
PANY E ﬁ
RS : 5 72% 12
Licensing Committee
HENEALZE® | | ] 7% .
Practice and Examination Committee
EEDREEE ; T4 o
Professional Development Committee N/A

* ZESRREBEESRNEREEREZMR * The attendance of committees includes Board members and Board-

KE appointed members.
RIHRMEREREREZES - R20185F 11 *  Renamed from Finance and Strategic Development Committee on 1
R1R5% - November 2018.

o BRHFEeE LEZEENEFRKERE ®* |n addition to attendance at meetings, Board members and Board-

EREEKERKALFLERT - Hh5k appointed members of the Disciplinary Committee are required to sit at
B RGO 8035 A VB FIR o inquiry hearings for the adjudication of suspected non-compliances of the
licensees.
e BRBNHAERFAKRE SR w3 Papers considered by circulation in lieu of meeting.
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Integrity and Impartiality

Standard of conduct
The EAA is fully committed to the principles of honesty, integrity
and fair play in the delivery of its services to the public.

The EAA is a public body under the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance. All Board members and employees of the EAA are
regarded as “public servants” for the purpose of that ordinance.

As a statutory body tasked with regulating the practice of the
estate agency trade in Hong Kong, the EAA strives to maintain the
highest possible level of quality service and ethical standards. To
promote and maintain public confidence, all EAA staff are required
to have a high standard of integrity and conduct. They are required
to comply with the EAA’s Code of Conduct which sets out in detail
the basic standards of conduct in different aspects, including
confidentiality, conflicts of interest and acceptance of advantages.
All EAA staff are briefed on the Code upon their commencement
of duty at the EAA, and may access the document easily at any
time through the EAA’s intranet.

The post-employment sanitisation period for the CEO, Directors
and Managers (including Senior Managers) are respectively one
year, six months and two months. There is also a prohibition on
all staff, including the CEO and Directors, to take the estate agents
or salespersons qualifying examinations during service and within
two months after service.

WEKEEEE 2018-19 F8 H3



o4

HHEE R Corporate Governance

M= T

REFATHEE ROBEEALER
Bl ARBREBEENDER  BEER
BEieMENBRRMNGHE - IBEESRR
KREREEZRREKREERER - VA

AEERPHREND  YEFEHE
£ N AR EERMA S H

b BB REERABRNTARE
SEENFE  AREAREERER
B ERIEEREHRGENR - 2
BB RE W eE BF R R
B2 -

o BEERMEER T MASFHAR
BRE-EMEETRABRFH - HE
ERAEXEBERN  XREERMEE
M EB BRI ERAERNIM G
MzERAR -

EEBLHMYENNGEIE AR
EREERKENEEREZEKENA
RREAETBIEINNEME R
BREEAR LIRS -
ABRHNEZETE  KERTHRES -
SEBEMRBREAREITE - SR
ERRE  HENTESIMENE
Mt - BB RITHHMNERE
Bk A BIRAERBLNRTE - B
PIEy -3t e B S )2

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Disclosure of interest

To foster public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the
EAA, the EAA adopts a two-tier reporting system on declaration
of interest as a safeguard against potential conflict of interest.
All Board members and Board-appointed members are required
to register their interests with the EAA upon their appointment
to membership and annually thereafter. They are also required
to declare their interests at all EAA meetings in any subject and
matter under consideration by the EAA, and any conflict of interest
or potential conflict of interest which they may have with the
affairs of the EAA. The register of interests is available for public
inspection.

In addition, all EAA staff also have to declare annually if they
have any direct or indirect financial interest in any company or
organisation which competes with the EAA, which the EAA has
business dealings with, or which is being regulated by the EAA.

Regarding interests in land and property, all EAA Board members
and Board-appointed members are required to declare any such
beneficial interests they have in Hong Kong or overseas, without
disclosing details of the addresses of such land or property.
Registrable interests include land or property owned by a member
in his/her name or held indirectly through another company or
person. It also includes land or property which a member has a
right over its disposition or has any pecuniary interest deriving
from it. The managerial staff of the EAA Administration are also
required to follow a similar requirement in declaring their interests
in land and property.
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Accountability and Transparency

The EAA considers accountability one of the fundamental pillars
of corporate governance and has built its corporate structure and
management culture based on this concept. Under the current
structure, the Board is accountable for the overall performance of
the EAA. The EAA Administration is responsible for managing the
EAA’s everyday business and is accountable to the Board for its
performance.

Corporate Authorisation Manual

To maintain a high standard of accountability, a Corporate
Authorisation Manual was formulated for the EAA to provide
corporate management authority guidelines. All members of the
EAA, standing committees, work groups/panels and all staff must
act in compliance with the spirit and intent of the Manual and
within the scope of authorities therein conferred.

Access to information

To facilitate the public to access information about the EAA, the
EAA has designated the Director of Services as the Access to
Information Officer who is responsible for ensuring that requests
for access to information under the EAA's Code on Access to
Information are properly dealt with in accordance with specific

procedures.

EEREBAARERE EERTMK
HE@UMETRBRESL  MAREN
BREE RN ITIERERINEM -

The public are kept abreast of the EAA’s
work and initiatives through various
communication channels, such as the
mass media, EAA publications and its
website.

HEREEEE 201819 §8% HH
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Summary of Applications for Access to Information
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Information Requested

No of Application

Applications Outcome

= EFB N SEFEER K

Confirmation letter on an education record

—— 3 IS issued by a third party \
All accepted FR 55 WP AR R 3l A2 ) B2 3 B 1
Documentary proofs of academic qualifications
submitted for licence applications
EERIERZ B EAER
ST 5 >EES Personal Data submitted for licence application
All accepted FHEML RS R

Investigation and inquiry hearing results

F=EBHNBERER K

B~
2016/17 1 ) Confirmation letter on an education record
Declined* ) )
issued by a third party
* EEMBARNBEHEREMENE=ERE - * Consent from the third party required for the release of the record could not
be obtained

ETRABAERMEMENAIRSET  The transparency of the EAA's work is attained through the
THEERE  meBFREGNEER information published at its website and is further enhanced by
BEREX—HER WREVLEEA furnishing an Annual Report to the Secretary for Transport and

E NE—FPRSABDBHE - RRA Housing, copies of which have to be laid before the Legislative
NEERMEBEERMALMEFTBET® - Council and are made available to the public at the EAA’s office
and website.

EERFAFEEIY  FEE EEM Members of the public are also kept abreast of the EAA’s work

NBHABFY EERTYRELET and initiatives through various communication channels, such
FEUBBERE MARENEHEEBH as media events, press releases, publicity and public education
TERBIENE - activities, EAA publications and its website.

56 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19



MBS A Corporate Covernance

DAL EWAE

EERLARZERBRCOLEREED)
BT EVE S R B BRFRE AR RRE AN
MEFEHETLEWA - RTEEREA
TERWAER  ARHEHERIEE
RRERF - EERREFIL EAH&EI
MR AL RIS

EERTRBELEAMHAMRNEARES -
ERTERBEREERTIFMNERE
MEERMERIEXERE THRET RO
BEOR - RO AIH W EE T E R
FREDRHEENEEZERKE - LRER
RUBBELUFOER - REKR - &
RS R B B R T R RV F R KFE

H—JE - AT EOR HIE AL B
EERQEERWEIRER - tMS it
PIFEBE B H5 58 A 09 RIS By BEVE L AR &Y
EE -

B H R

HEBER

EE RMB B HREKBLRINIZ AT
Z 2018/ 19O BEE 8- BER
FE AT EEREAEE RMIZE
Bl o

IBEZNEZENRAEETRRERE
ERFEMBRE  2ERAANBILR
FoEERZAMINBZEEMAERER
CERRBRERIE BBEEY. BER
7 ETRNTT B M8 S A% BRET RS & B IS TR
RAHEMNEI133F 1848 ©

Publication of inquiry hearing results

To facilitate concerned parties to ascertain the results of the
inquiry hearings conducted by the Disciplinary Committee of the
EAA pursuant to powers under the EAO on disciplinary matters
concerning licensees or ex-licensees, and to educate both the
estate agency trade and the public, the EAA publishes inquiry
hearing results of the last two years on its website.

The EAA also publishes the reasons for disciplinary decisions on its
website. Not only does such publication enhance the transparency
of the EAA’s work but also enables the estate agency trade and
the public to have a better understanding of the EAA’s disciplinary
decisions, as well as equips the estate agency trade with valuable
learning on how to comply with the EAO and reduces the risks of
similar non-compliances in future. In the long run, it will make a
substantial contribution to improving the professional standard of
the trade.

On the other hand, the publication of the reasons for decisions
provides a way for consumers to understand the EAA’s disciplinary
decisions, and enables them to make informed choices when
engaging the services of licensees.

Independent Checks and Balances

External audit

The EAA’s financial statements are subject to audit by an external
auditor. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continued to be the EAA's
external auditor in the financial year of 2018/19.

The main purpose of the external audit is to provide independent
assurance to the Board that the annual financial statements of
the EAA are fairly stated. The appointment of the EAA’s external
auditor is subject to the approval of the Secretary for Transport
and Housing. The Independent Auditor's Report and Financial
Statements of 2018/19 audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu are
included in pages 133 to 184.
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Appeals

Under the EAO, licensees or licence applicants may appeal against
the EAA’s decisions concerning refusal to grant or renew a licence,
or its disciplinary sanctions by writing to the Secretary for Transport
and Housing.

The Secretary for Transport and Housing is required to appoint
a panel of persons for the purpose of hearing such appeals. The
appeals are determined by a tribunal, the members of which are
appointed by the Chairman of the panel from members of the
panel.

The Ombudsman’s review

The EAA came under the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman on 2
July 2010. In the year of 2018/19, a total of three inquiries from the
Ombudsman were received. All were closed and unsubstantiated.

Performance Pledges

As a responsible public body, the EAA has a set of performance
pledges for its services to the public and the attainment level
of the pledges is reviewed regularly. All sections of the EAA
Administration are responsible for maintaining effective internal
controls to monitor the achievement of their pledges to the public.

To closer monitor process and better gauge the progress of the
EAA’s work as well as to increase transparency towards the public,
a new performance pledge has been introduced in July 2018,
covering the processing time from the commencement of an
investigation of a non-compliant case to the holding of the first
disciplinary inquiry hearing for different types of cases, namely
Normal Cases/Complex Cases, and the publication of admitted
breaches on EAA website for Fast-track Cases.
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2018/19 F EITHAEBFIREFEIZ R
Achievement of the Performance Pledges in 2018/19
& Enquiries

AR #5551 BE ERXR
Service type S ENETL Results
EF )
Response to enquiries
- BREEH(BEAL) - —EAI{ERA {00%
- Telephone enquiries (voice mail messages) | « Within 1 working day'
. EEaE: . & T :
E_.@ B t'{l' 1?%@ _,
- Written enquiries - Within 7 working days?

& 1#%Z% Qualifying Examinations

AR 7% 28 5 BE
Service type Standard
R AR B AN 3 EZREM 14 BITIERA o
Issue result slips® Within 14 working days after the examination

[ &R Licensing

PR %5 %8 51 B ERER
Service type Standard Results
PRI R A W B A Y 10 (B TR ¢ .
.98%
Process new licence applications Within 10 working days for new applications*
BRIBAE R AR Yo B 48 b BR EB 12 19 20l THER A o
Process renewal licence applications Within 20 working days for renewal applications
BRRT R ERABUEEREAFORBA | 10EIIERAS
Refund of application fees for Within 10 working days® 100%
rejected/cancelled applications
! =4 )%EI’J/I{’F%?%EHH—EE ° ! The EAA’s working days are from Monday to Friday.
’ Hgﬂﬁa@ & T —ETERMIGETSE - 2 From the next working day following receipt of the enquiry.
’ EE )%?E%%fﬁ%gf&}i uﬁ?%gv PERE : Issued by the Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority,
%é%aﬁ“]&"ﬁﬁﬂim BRERRTEB authorised by the EAA to administer the examinations.
e o e o e 4 From the next day following the receipt of an application, the required fee
4 %%Eﬂ/&é;%i ’ fgﬁ&ﬁ@%;ﬁ &%g% and documents to the day the licence/statement of particulars of business
Sipgz (EiEA ETfﬁAEiEX;,(ZEI )%JJ:%XZDEE‘EEE is issued (ie. the day the licence is available for collection). This service
EEE%%?Q Eé%)%ﬁgﬁiﬁ%é@%%EE%/\;% target ldoes not apply to applications vvh'ich requjre the“EAA Licensingl
THAETN [HE AR | B H e E Committee to determine whether the applicant fulfills the “fit and proper
sk RIS IS E R E o B R IR iE requirement and other licensing requirements as prescribed under the EAO.
i3 AR A S5 ;Eﬁuﬁqggg EX%E%(V}MDE&E\ A longer duration is needed for such cases for the EAA to make enquiries
BIRE . (EXANTHE) BAEEES & and for the applicant or any third party (such as the Official Receiver's Office,
B EEE - j—ﬂ,/(;;gfgﬁt;&aﬁglzggpgﬁ : trustees-in-bankruptcy or the Police) to respond before the EAA approves or
HEEEBERT FEERRHE o rejects the application.
s =) éﬂz%E%EEFI ZT BT VEXR#EST : a0 > From the next day after an application is cancelled or rejected; for
B EEZE - HIJEE%Z IREERZENETA bankruptcy cases, from the next day following the receipt of instructions
BRZT —TIIVE%iu‘f from the Official Receiver's Office or the trustee-in-bankruptcy.
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Complaints and Enforcement (applicable for complaints received or non-compliance cases detected
before the launch of the new performance pledge in July 2018)

FR%E R 2= EE=
Service type Standard Results

Gl E PN TS RETERA {00%
Acknowledge receipt of written complaints Within 5 working days

WB| R R & AIRFAELEE@E | 15EAIERA

Provide a written response to complainants Within 15 working days 100%
upon receipt of sufficient supporting

documents

BRFRITEHHEKATERER

Complete investigation of non-compliance cases by the Complaints and Enforcement Section

R 2R =EAR

(BBREDFETEIT - TESFALR P KA | Within 3 calendar months

AR:E TEHEZ=

REREFENER) -

Fast Track Cases

(Cases involving no witnesses and concerning

allegation(s) of the Eight Specified Breaches only)

EEER NEAR

(GERFERIE R P R T ZHRMIBEEER) Within 6 calendar months

Normal Cases 92.27%

(Cases other than Fast Track Cases concerning not

more than 2 allegations)

BAEER FEARRA

(BRIPRR(EZR R ERERAIMIEZR) Within 9 calendar months 93,900
o 0

Complex Cases

(Cases other than Fast Track Cases and Normal Cases)

RBARFAREHER 10ETERA ——
d 0

Notify complainants of the outcome of the case Within 10 working days

AR R A A ) AEER 10 TERA

Notify complainees (licensees) of the outcome of the | Within 10 working days 98.19%

case
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Disciplinary Proceedings (applicable for complaints received or non-compliance cases detected before the

launch of the new performance pledge in July 2018)

AR %% 28 5 BEE ERR
Service type Standard Results

T E IR SERRFEZE) 0 EIIERA
Conduct the first disciplinary inquiry hearing of a case | Within 90 working days after completion of 96.63%
investigation

WER R BE KRR B R20184F 7 H 3T ARIS ot 1 M 18 7 E R k2 B2 12 4 o<
Complaints and Enforcement, and Disciplinary Proceedings (applicable for complaints received or
non-compliance cases detected after the launch of the new performance pledge in July 2018)

AR 7% 28 5 =f ERR
Service type Standard Results

R R 3 AR B ERF RETERA -
0

Acknowledge receipt of written complaints Within 5 working days

WB| R $RE A S (& MR R AEL B E OB 15 EATERA

Provide a written response to complainants upon Within 15 working days 100%

receipt of sufficient supporting documents

WERBEHERS 2018198 O |
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Service type S EN T Results

ETER MR CERRN T B AR )/ NEERBEAMEARNERFEHCERANRREZR)
[DEE - W EEEEETAAEES ° F

Conduct the first disciplinary inquiry hearing for Normal Cases and Complex Cases/Publish admitted breach(es) on
EAA website for Fast Track Cases'

[Note: Not all cases will proceed to disciplinary actions.J?

R (A 2R NEA R

Fast Track Cases Within 6 calendar months? i
(RREAFH BT TESEEANER) e
(Cases dealt with under the New Scheme for

Disciplinary Cases and involving no witnesses)

=R EES 10 & A A+

GERBRERWE RS RTLR2IBZEE RFAER | Within 10 calendar months*®

R ER) —
Normal Cases

(Cases other than Fast Track Cases concerning not

more than 2 allegations investigated by the EAA)

EREER 131 A A+

(BRPRRE R R EBERAIMIES) Within 13 calendar months* 100%
Complex Cases

(Cases other than Fast Track cases and Normal Cases)

BARFARRER 10 A T{ERAS 100%
Notify complainants of the outcome of the case Within 10 working days®

WA A ) BRER 10 ZERA7

Notify complainees (licensees) of the outcome of the | Within 10 working days’ 100%
case
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The EAA’s investigation generally focuses on the compliance of the
Estate Agents Ordinance and its subsidiary legislation and the conduct of
estate agents and salespersons in their practice of estate agency trade. If
a case is related to any parallel investigation of criminal offence or non-
compliance with any law or regulation by other regulatory bodies, or if the
case is related to any parallel civil court action, this performance pledge is
inapplicable.

A written notification of whether the case will be recommended for
disciplinary actions will be given to the complainant(s) and the licensee(s)
concerned within 3 calendar months for Fast Track Cases, within 6 calendar
months for Normal Cases, or within 9 calendar months for Complex Cases.
Commences from the date of the EAA’s written response to complainants
upon receipt of sufficient supporting documents from them or (if there is
no complainant) from the date of the EAA’s first allegation letter to licensees
concerned to the date of the first disciplinary inquiry hearing for cases
proceeding to an inquiry hearing for Normal Cases and Complex Cases or to
the publication date of admitted breach(es) on EAA website for Fast Track
Cases.

Commences from the date of the EAA’s written response to complainants
upon receipt of sufficient supporting documents from them or (if there is
no complainant) from the date of the EAA’s first allegation letter to licensees
concerned to the date of the first disciplinary inquiry hearing for cases
proceeding to an inquiry hearing for Normal Cases and Complex Cases or to
the publication date of admitted breach(es) on EAA website for Fast Track
Cases.

Situations out of the EAA's control, such as no inquiry hearing date is
available after the case is ready for inquiry hearing or the unavailability
of complainant(s), witness(es) and/or the licensee(s) concerned on the
purported inquiry hearing date etc,, are disregarded for the purpose of this
performance pledge.

From completion of investigation or, in the event the case is submitted for
an inquiry hearing or dealt with under the New Scheme for Disciplinary
Cases, the date of the letter notifying the complainee of the result of the
hearing.

Excludes cases that have to be submitted for inquiry hearings. For the
latter, the statutory requirement is for the EAA to “within the period of 21
days beginning on the date of the relevant decision, to notify in writing the
licensee and any other person against whom the decision is made of the
decision...".
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B E=E #5512 Continuing Professional Development (“CPD”)

B35 2 A

Service type

TR EREREERDR AN RE

Process applications for endorsement of CPD activities
FHIHEERE | T2NEERENNHEEEER
IEEJLNESTEIN

Issue certificates of attendance for EAA-organised CPD
activities

BE
Standard

20fATHERA
Within 20 working days

30 A TVERA
Within 30 working days

R

Results

100%

100%
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Organlsatlon and People
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Organisation structure

1THRARE

Chief Executive Officer

RERLEEE
Director of
Regulatory Affairs &
General Counsel

BOIRERBEAE
Director of Operations &
= |Professional Development

TERER M E A

Legal Services &

B BT

N L

Complaints & Enforcement
o Examma’mon
L e w - ‘TR
Professional Development Disciplinary Proceedings

heE AR AT
Licensing

2l
-
-

& BRITEERFY The EAA Administration

R saE
Director of Services

HEENS EERWER
Corporate Communications/
VBorard Secretariat

J

A7 R A TR AR

Finance & Administration

R

SRR R BUR ST ED
IT & Data Ana|y5|s

J\J

ANERHEB

Human Resources

W
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B BTTEUERFY The EAA Administration

RMERUTHE T 4RH

Non-directorate staff establishment

SREE SRR
Senior Manager/ qam
T A= Legal Counsel Ma:nager

Driver/

A
Clerical Assy “

%8 BhERAsTE
a Ek Assistant
e Manager

BAEERE
Investigator

BHXE / N
Senior
Clerk \
BhEEE
Assistant
Officer

T———

FARE, (THENE E5HBHE
Personal Secretary/
Administrative Assistant/
Accounting Assistant
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TR+
Ms Ruby HON
Chief Executive Officer

ITREXBERAETRER L

Ms Annie FONDA

Director of Operations and Professional
Development

RE N EREEREREL L

Ms Juliet LEUNG

Director of Regulatory Affairs and
General Counsel

[ PR B AL IR B M EE £
Ms Ivy LEE
Manager (Licensing)

X BRI+
Ms Maggie TANG
Manager (Professional Development)

FREBREASKERERL L
Ms Susanna KO
Manager (Legal Services and Examination)

AEEERG BRI LT
Ms Helen YEUNG
Legal Counsel

RIS MBEE T B E
Mr lvan WONG
Director of Services

R BLIBEEGH L
Ms Connie FU
Manager (Complaints)

R RITEN B B FRL M &
Mr CHAN U Keng
Head (Complaints and Enforcement)

HelsE 2R SR A -
Ms Anissa CHENG
Manager (Corporate Communications)

ERBRRREE
Mr YK LEUNG
Legal Counsel

M RITBED AR E B S 2+
Ms Wendy POON
Manager (Finance and Administration)

TENEE BT REL L
Ms Elvina LEE
Manager (Enforcement)

AR BB MBI EERRELE

Mr LAM Ka Man
Manager (IT and Data Analysis)
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Staffing and remuneration

Staffing

The EAA Administration is led by the Chief Executive Officer who is
responsible for managing the business of the EAA, and monitoring
and supervising compliance with the Estate Agents Ordinance. As
at 31 March 2019, the staff establishment was 99. The percentage
of employees with disabilities was 1%. The staff turnover rate for
2018/19 was 24%.

Remuneration

The EAA regularly reviews its remuneration policy and practices
to ensure that its remuneration packages are in line with the
market trends, so as to maintain competitiveness in attracting and
retaining talent. An independent consultant was commissioned to
conduct a pay level and pay trend survey during the year. The pay
ranges were revised in line with the market and the 2019 annual
performance-linked pay adjustment also drew reference from the
recommendations of the consultant.

Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer and Directors during the year

AERIN FITRARNBENTH 0T

The total remuneration’ of the Chief Executive Officer and directors during the year was as follows:

AR

Number of
individuals

1,500,001-2,000,000 7©
3,000,001-3,500,000 7T

$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 3
$3,000,001 to $3,500,000 1
Total 4

| BEFHRANEEFAIMNNETS  Oni
FmRARRNHE (ER) -
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! Total remuneration includes salary, contract-end gratuity and performance-
linked pay, if applicable, paid during the year.
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Training and communication

Staff training and development

With rising public expectations on the accountability and
transparency of public organisations, the EAA needs to ensure
that its staff are equipped with the necessary competencies to
discharge their duties, respond to the community’s evolving
needs, and achieve consistently high levels of performance. As part
of its human resources strategy, the EAA is committed to providing
various kinds of resources, including in-house workshops, external
training programmes and training sponsorship to enhance their
competencies and support their career development.

Being employees of a public body, EAA staff should have a high
level of awareness on corruption prevention and flawless integrity.
For this purpose, a talk by the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC") on “Corruption Prevention” was organised for
those staff who had not attended similar seminars conducted by
the ICAC before and for others to refresh their knowledge.

As EAA staff need to deal with different stakeholders including
working partners and the public every day, the ability to build
rapport, listen with patience, de-escalate tense conversation
and manage stress is important. To enhance EAA staff's ability
in handling difficult people as well as in handling their own
emotion and stress, a workshop on “Handling Difficult People” was
organised for all staff during the year.

Staff were provided with sponsorship for attending their self-
initiated training programmes to enhance their knowledge at work
and to meet individual career development goals.

All these training activities aim to enhance the professional
knowledge and skills of EAA staff, to develop their full potential
and to prepare them for greater challenges and achievements
ahead.

wERIZEER 2018-19 8 OO
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Communication

The EAA reinforces communication among staff through different
channels, including regular meetings among management staff
and sectional meetings, horizontally to ensure transparency and
understanding of the work of different sections and vertically
to convey direction to different rankings of staff. The senior
management further regularly reaches out to staff through various
communication sessions, such as the CEO’s Forum and sectional
briefing sessions to share the latest message and direction from
the senior management on matters such as the EAA’s corporate
plan, the pay adjustment mechanism, and organisational changes,
as well as to provide a platform for the staff to share their views.

In addition, the EAA has formed a staff committee with members
comprised representatives of each rank of staff through elections.

To foster team spirit, informal gatherings such as staff outings and
an annual Christmas party were arranged during the year.

el
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The EAA staff and their families participated in the “Dialogue in the Dark”
activity to experience daily environments of life in absolute darkness.
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The EAA staff visited an instant noodles museum and joined a
workshop to DIY their own cup noodle.
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The fitness trainer introduced a 10-minute workplace exercise to the EAA staff
in the "Body Check and Physical Activity” Workshop.

To increase colleagues’ health awareness, the EAA invited a
registered nurse and fitness trainer to conduct a “Body Check
and Physical Activity” Workshop for EAA staff. The registered
nurse measured everyone's health index and the fitness trainer
introduced a 10-minute exercise which could also be performed in
the workplace.

Although a new split office arrangement was implemented
following the EAA’s acquisition of its new office, the
communication among staff working at different locations has not
been compromised. With the use of advanced video conferencing
technology, meetings and individual face-to-face discussions were
conducted as usual. For location-oriented activities such as the

body check and fitness training, separate sessions were held at
each of the two offices to ensure that staff at different offices could
benefit from the activities.

EERNFANRTEEERY UGS EBER -
During the year, an annual Christmas party was held to foster
team spirit.
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Corporate and staff awards

Corporate awards

The EAA received the Caring Organisation logo for the fourth
consecutive year presented by The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service in recognition of its commitment and contribution to

)

“Caring for the Community”, “Caring for the Employees” and

"Caring for the Environment”.

The EAA was also acknowledged as a “Manpower Developer”
again by the Employees Retraining Board for its outstanding
achievements in manpower training and development.

Staff awards

An Investigator of the Complaints and Enforcement Section and
an Officer of the Licensing Section received “The Ombudsman’s
Award 2018" for “Officers of Public Organisations” in recognition
of their professional and positive attitude in serving the public
and handling complaints and enquiries. This was the fourth
consecutive year that EAA staff have received the awards.

EEREENFRESLERBHERE [F
DERE] R

The EAA received the Caring Organisation logo for
the fourth consecutive year presented by The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service.



B ¥ 8

BWARBXZ
EERRAFEHRF 1208 A% (M8
LLEFRHBABTIOERL) - EEREASF
[EZBURAA9,290 8 7T » B EFE AN
5208 7035.9% ° B E RFARNZRFAS A
8060 &L * B EFEAESE °

N

JRERBIWARBIWARSTY% B EFE
BINT 3708 T8 4.7% E8,100 8 T © 1
MOETZRRAEFENFEAB LA -
AN - R E R BR20184 1 ARIEM
ZRBWAR EFEIEIMNO0EITTIKI0.7%
F91087L - SERBRITIRSEHFERE
Ko SR BUA EFE2808TT B EF

e —

FE1E AN 60 & Tk 28.7% °

Financial Review

Income and expenditure

For the year under review, the EAA reported a surplus of $12.2
million (as compared to a surplus of $7.1 million last year). Income
for the year was $92.9 million, an increase of $5.2 million or 5.9%
over the previous year. Expenditure for the year was $80.6 million,
remaining similar as the previous year's.

Income

Licence fee income, contributing 87% of the total income, was
$81.0 million, representing an increase of $3.7 million or 4.7% over
the previous year. The increase was mainly due to a growth in
the number of licensees during the year. Examination fee income
was $9.1 million, representing an increase of $0.9 million or 10.7%
over the previous year, due to an increase in examination fees
with effect from January 2018. Interest income was $2.8 million,
representing an increase of $0.6 million or 28.7% over the previous
year, due to higher time deposit interest rates offered by banks.

‘0
°o

o

o FRERE Licence fees
o ZHE Examination fees

o FBUYA Interest income

« |
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53 Expenditure

BIXAEBRAMAE RBBERZAM Staff costs, and office premises and related expenses were two
REZEXH 5 5lh 8 x624% % major expenditure items, accounting for about 62.4% and 14.0%
140%° FEX HIEMHIEE BIFTE - of our total expenditures respectively. Expenditure items that
WAEMEERAT - BMEERE KB saw major increases in dollar amount were depreciation, office
BR - UREARBER mMEEXH accommodation-related expenses, equipment maintenance and

BAOMIBERIRE TAA - KEHEEMR communication expenses, and service fees for examinations.
T EEEKESE - ARHEIL UK Expenditure items that saw major decreases in dollar amount
HIEBFS o were staff costs, operating lease rentals, publicity and advertising,

community education expenses and training activity expenses.

8 TR Staff costs
o MM MBI X

Office premises and
) related expenses

e HAth Others
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EAA staff volunteers for charitable activities, e.g. a non-profit making organisation, “Food

for Good", by preparing hot-meals for those in need.

New office premises

Included in the additions of property, plant and equipment during
the year was an amount of $76 million for the acquisition of new
office premises with two car parking spaces in Chai Wan and
other related costs to relocate some of the EAA’s staff from the
existing rental premises, resulting in reduced rental space after the
relocation.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The EAA is committed to integrating corporate social responsibility
("CSR") principles into our daily operations and contributing to
the sustainable development of the community. Key CSR aspects
such as community, environment and workplace, are integrated
into all our operational decisions and practices. Maintaining good
CSR practices that align with our role as a statutory body involves
everyone at the EAA.

Charity participation

To show our care to the underprivileged and those in need, the
EAA supported various fund-raising activities (e.g. Dress Casual
Day, Love Teeth Day, Skip Lunch Day etc.) and supported a non-
profit making organisation “Food for Good” which is facilitating
the reduction of food waste through the redistribution of surplus
edible food and recycling food. Thirty EAA staff and their family
members/friends volunteered for the organisation, and a total of
280 hot-meals have been prepared for those in need.
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The EAA strives to promote environmentally friendly ideas to
its staff and participated in several environmental initiatives,

e.g. Biz-green Dress Day.
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Youth development

Summer internship programme

The EAA joined the Secondary School Student Summer Interns
programme held by the Employee Training Board (“ERB”) in
2018 and the ERB appointed the Precious Blood Secondary
School as our partner of the intern programme. During the one-
month programme, the interns had the opportunity to interact
with different professionals and get hands-on work experience.
The supervisors also gained experience in coaching the new
generation.

Environment

The EAA strives to operate as an environmentally friendly
organisation and promotes the same to its staff. Green office
measures adopted include provision of designated trays to collect
one-side printed paper for reuse; recycling of paper and toner
cartridges; and use of environmentally friendly printing paper,
timer for switching off lighting and air-conditioning automatically,
etc.

The EAA also participated in several environmental initiatives
during the year, e.g. Biz-green Dress Day, Hong Kong No Air Con
Night and Earth Hour.

EERRGEETMREEREEETZEMERY
EAA Director of Services Mr lvan Wong presented certificates to
summer interns.
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Information Technology

Online services

Candidates can now register for the qualifying examinations online
around the clock after a seamless integration with the systems of
the service provider. The integration is made through a secured
interface to ensure the availability and security of the service.

Flexible and reliable IT infrastructure

The infrastructure of the information systems has been enhanced
to better support the changing internal and external environment.
The enhancement will provide more flexibility for organisational
changes.

The setting up of a permanent server room within the premises of
the EAA can better monitor the serviceability of the network and
improve the reliability of the infrastructure as a whole.

Cyber security

With the ever increasing threat of cyber-attacks and data leakage,
the EAA has constantly reviewed its security platform and
parameters to ensure that they are on a par with the industry
practice and up-to-date.

WEREEER 2018-19 F#
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The EAA distributed an educational kit on anti-
money laundering (“AML") and counter-terrorist
financing to estate agency shops

s
et ;
B
A

B [IHEBERRIMIARBREKYE] HERE (R
5% 17-03(CR)) £

Practice Circular (No.17-03(CR)) on “Sale of
Uncompleted Properties Situated Outside Hong Kong”
became effective

EERMEMIR [RAEEAEE]
A new designated “AML corner” created at the EAA’s
website

05/2018

ROMMEREEEREFEERE/(F=H)EE

MBI

Certificate presentation ceremony of the third series
of the EAA’s Certificate Programme in Practice held

2N EEEERET LERNEIYEIBTE

Participated in an overseas properties expo at the
Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre
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CHERBE—FEER)
New booklet titled
“Be a Smart Purchaser

of First-hand Property”
published

EREBEIRENARATERE]

Received ERB Manpower Developer Award

07/2018

BT —FEEMEHENENLMER
Announcement ceremony of Charter on the Sales of
First-hand Residential Properties held
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07/2018 08/2018

EERe R EE  BE2018F ¥ FHNTEREN BT BRI AERA
N N4 § E
THENIEES A new EAA office established in Chai Wan

The EAA met the press to review its work in the first half
of 2018 and introduced its initiatives for the second half

08/2018

EEREMAR MEREETRAELREMD FTESERRTENES ] HIEABSE (FR518-01(CR) HAEREM EE

The EAA updated the “Questions and Answers” related to Practice Circular No. 18-01 (CR) titled “Guidelines on
Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Requirements for the Estate Agency Sector”

BMERIEMAZ-NFERES18-01(CR) ARAMEN
BETRABRRRMD FESEERTENES ] RSB - M
GOESTEE g E 0

CPD seminar on “All You Can Ask — Circular No.
18-01(CR) — Guidelines on Compliance of Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Requirements for the Estate Agency Sector” held

10/2018

9 [l R BRI — IR B R GERIR) | AR BRI TENS B AT R A R SRR
KERBITEHSR

The EAA held meetings with trade representatives
preparing for the FATF Mutual Evaluation

Public Seminar on “Be a Smart Purchaser of First-hand
Property (Advanced)” held

wEREEEE 2018-19¢® /O
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SEBIOEE Events and Activities

11/2018

EERMAE TEMRE [ RFEERTE]
Two EAA staff awarded The Ombudsman’s Award

EEREXARKLFE M BT EESETH
BEFHE

The EAA and trade representatives attended the Mutual
Evaluation held by the FATF

— v
ERREERNE L EHEEARE

Received a delegation from Her Majesty’s Revenue &
Customs

12/2018

BERREFHERLLITEHERKRE

Delegation from Wuhan Real Estate Brokerage Industry
Association received

BEE TMXEES ] BEAES (5 18-02(CR) £

Practice Circular (No.18-02(CR)) on “Property
Advertisement” became effective
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B —FEEEREEMHRNKT | B ERS (RIR
18-03(CR)) £ 3%

Practice Circular (No.18-03(CR)) on “Order at First-sale
Sites of Residential Properties” became effective

275 BT AR B EEZEEA S EBERT
TE

275 licensees were granted the first batch of Gold Symbol
under the Continuing Professional Development Scheme

BERRENERETRETR S EREE

Delegation from Tokyo Real Estate Association Chiyoda
Branch received
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The EAA met the press to review its work in 2018
and introduced its initiatives for 2019

B TRINEXA BRIREN] RFHEE

Public Seminar on “Know the risks when purchasing
properties situated outside Hong Kong” held

‘EBNOER Fvents and Activities

02/2019

BRRERFERTES

Chinese New Year media luncheon held

EERELEEE MAREREZXMERIEMN
Bl =M= [5AI B8 BHEEELZFEEY
H A IR

The EAA launched a publicity campaign to promote
the “5A" qualities that a professional estate agent is
expected to possess and to encourage consumers to
appoint estate agents of high calibre

EERHELMEY - ERERMEEARNERRE

New micro-movie showcasing the important qualities
of estate agents launched

MENREEER 2018-19 Fi#f
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Advances in Gatekeeping
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Qualifying Examinations

“Ability” is one of the major qualities that clients expect from our
licensees. As a gatekeeper to ensure persons entering the trade
possess the required knowledge to provide estate agency services,
a prerequisite for obtaining a licence to practise in the estate
agency industry is to pass the relevant qualifying examination.
Currently, the EAA offers two types of qualifying examinations,
namely: (i) the Estate Agents Qualifying Examination (“EAQE") and
(i) the Salespersons Qualifying Examination (“SQE”").

A candidate who passes the EAQE may apply for either an estate
agent’s licence (individual) or a salesperson’s licence. A candidate
who passes the SQE can apply for a salesperson’s licence only.

The qualifying examinations are administered by the Hong Kong
Examinations and Assessment Authority on behalf of the EAA in
2018/19

WERBEEREAEEXSEREANLERDT ¢
A comparison of the EAQE and SQE is as follows:

ERBEEREA EXBERER
EAQE SQE
RE B4R BEFoN
Frequency 4times a year 6 times a year
Z 3\ N30
Examination Time 3 hours 2 hours 30 minutes
HBHA EF—H0  0BFBUHAE F—H1n : wBEBUHE
Number of Questions Part 1: 30 stand-alone questions Part 1: 40 stand-alone questions
—#6 : 06HE (KE—ZEmEERAH) FHH  106HE (KR EMERRS)
Part 2:20 questions based on one or two case studies  Part 2: 10 questions based on one or two case studies
i ZIRERE
Format Multiple-choice questions
ARAH FHIRLFEH60%
Pass Mark At least 60% of correct answers in each part
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T£2018/19FE  ERBEREHRLE
¥EEREANTHEBEDA23.8%
295% 201718 FEMEERXNE
B A27.8% % 36.8% °

The qualifying examinations comprise two parts — one consisting
of stand-alone questions and the other of questions on case
studies. Candidates must pass both parts in order to pass the
examination.

Part 1 of the examination is intended to test candidates’
knowledge of various parts of the syllabi of the EAQE and SQE,
including the laws and practices applicable to the estate agency
practice, while Part 2 is intended to test candidates’ ability to apply
the knowledge to practical scenarios.

EERBPWEREHNATEERALES AHER
i ERIR RIS B A -

Qualifying examinations are organised to assess
whether persons possess the requisite knowledge
to provide estate agency services.

Number of candidates

A total of 6,131 candidates registered for the EAQE and 7,648
candidates registered for the SQE in 2018/19, representing an
increase of about 8.2% and a decrease of about 4.8% respectively
over those of the previous year.

Compared to that in 2017/18, the number of candidates actually
sitting the EAQE increased by about 7.4% to 5479 and in the case
of the SQE it decreased by about 4.4% to 6,764.

In 2018/19, the average pass rate for the EAQE and SQE were 23.8%
and 29.5% respectively, as against 27.8% and 36.8% respectively in
2017/18.

WEREESS 2018-19 8 3D
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wEREBEERER EXEEREA
Estate Agents Qualifying Examination Salespersons Qualifying Examination
6,000 8,000
5,479
5,103 U 6,764
4,800 6,400
4,210 5,684
3,600 4,800
2,400 3,200 36.8%
38% o 38.6% %
27.8% 23.8% 29.5%
1,200 m 1,600 m
0 0
o o
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
CLIN | @ i+
Number of examination candidates Pass rate
B Educational background of candidates

E2018/10FE » EEREEBERESR In 2018/19, the percentage of candidates sitting for the SQE
WELm > EEAKESI FEBFHNE X who have attained tertiary or above educational level was about
417533% 0 ERMERBERES A 33%, and that for the EAQE was about 48%, as compared to 30%
BARERN TEFOEZLELXRANDN A and 47% respectively in 2017/18. Generally, candidates with
48% » M2017/18FEE ML X B H B A higher educational qualifications scored higher marks than those
30% K% 47% o —REIRE - BREREREE candidates with lower educational qualifications.

FRERMREL SERENELERT °
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2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

RE b . b . h= .
Education Level % of aHE % of CEERS i CELES
. Pass rate . Pass rate Pass rate
registered registered registered
candidates candidates candidates

il
EES 27.7% 28.6% 26.7% 22.9% 27.5% 18.5%
HERE ﬁ’giit 7.7% 34.0% 8.1% 24.5% 8.0% 19.0%
BEREHR
kb
EACLE ISR 46.7% 445% 46.8% 31.2% 47.5% 269%
Tertiary or above
B R
ARAE 17.9% 37.5% 18.4% 28.0% 17.0% 25.9%
Unknown
fh
Fs 37.7% 33.9% 36.8% 32.2% 35.6% 25.5%
R
| F6orr7 17.3% 33.5% 16.1% 31.3% 15.8% 24.0%
BREH .
kb
SQE j(ﬁ—_k AL 29.3% 55.7% 30.4% 45.3% 33.1% 36.2%
Tertiary or above
ARAE 15.7% 39.4% 16.7% 374% 15.5% 29.9%
Unknown
EZENBESS Occupational background of candidates
WMEEREZNZEERP I ZEERK Candidates registered for the qualifying examinations included
BRTEENAL  BETERIE . students and people from a wide range of occupational
MEER  RIT G REKRE - BRB backgrounds, including the retail and wholesale business, property
MEREHMALTLE 46% © management, banking, accounting, and investment. About 46% of

the candidates attempted the examination for the first time.
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wEREERER

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination
o HEMRIEZE Estate agency trade B
. BRI mst mE

Banking/accounting/investment

o TE E

Retail / wholesale business
Y)ZEETE Property management
7258 IE Construction/surveying

fREZ Insurance

&4 Students
HE e R%

Education/social service

o JBJE,&#R Hotel/ catering
o EREE Unknown
o Hfth Others

. )

EXREEREA

Salespersons Qualifying Examination

o T 5 ~ GE—

Retail / wholesale business
o YEEIE Property management

© 24 Students 5
w17/ Bt RE o
. " 0 .

Banking/accounting/investment

[ 21.0% g

o

o

o

® SHJE, &8k Hotel / catering

o R Insurance

o HE &R

Education/social service
#2888 Construction/surveying m_,
o REZEE Salesperson-trainee (
o BRI Unknown
o Hft Others 4.8%

- )
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\\

ZEZ2MERNXE
Number of attempts at examinations

wEREERER EXBERER

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination Salespersons Qualifying Examination
60% (- 60% [

50% 46.4% 50% 15 6%

40% 40%

30% 30%

20.2% 20.6%
20% 16.4% 17.0% 20% 18.1% 15.7%
. m [l [l . m “ m
0 0
&

. BREE

First attempt

B HERIRERIERN
EHEE

RBIANRBEF BXJIRFESE
HEEZEA2019F4AM%G BEERE
ERBEREREANRGHER

#2019F3 A FtE - EARLAERN ERZE
ERZR HOESKNEEEERE
AW IIEEEEER  MEEREATE
72019F7 A#ETEREERHATAE -
BRIEZETE - FABRITRERKED

FEREZ

Second attempt

. EHTF

. FEZIRHALEE
Unknown

Third attempt or
above

Change of service provider and preparing for
computer-based examinations

After a formal procurement exercise, The Institute of Professional
Education And Knowledge of the Vocational Training Council was
appointed as the service provider for administering the qualifying
examinations effective from April 2019.

Starting from March 2019, candidates could register online for the
qualifying examinations. The preparation work for implementation
of the computer-based examination (“CBE") for the SQE is
underway and the EAA has decided to launch a pilot scheme of
the CBE in July 2019. Under the pilot scheme, there will be one CBE
for the SQE each month.
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Licensing

Licensing Regime

Subject to certain exceptions as stipulated in the Estate Agents
Ordinance ("EAQ") and its subsidiary legislation, any person or
company practising estate agency work in the course of business
in Hong Kong must hold a valid licence. Failure to do so is an
offence.

There are two types of licences, namely, salesperson’s licence and
estate agent’s licence. A salesperson’s licence may only be granted
to an individual while an estate agent’s licence may be granted
either to an individual or a company.

An individual holding a salesperson’s licence may only perform
estate agency work for a licensed estate agent, whereas an estate
agent’s licence holder may perform estate agency work either
for a licensed estate agent or in his capacity as a sole proprietor,
a partner of a partnership, or a director of a company holding an
estate agent’s licence. He may also be appointed as a manager of
an office of an estate agency business responsible for its effective
and separate control'.

Before operating an estate agency business at a particular place
of business using a particular business name, an estate agent
is required to apply for a statement of particulars of business
("SPOB").

To be granted an estate agent’s licence or a salesperson’s licence,
an individual must fulfill the following requirements:
having attained the age of 18 years;

having completed an educational level of Form Five of
secondary education or its equivalent;

having passed the relevant qualifying examination?; and

having been considered by the EAA a “fit and proper” person.

' Section 38 of the EAO requires each office of an estate agency business to
under the effective and separate control of a manager who must be a holder of
an estate agent’s licence (individual).

2 The qualifying examination must have been passed whithin 12 months
immediately before the date of an application for the grant of a licence.
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Licensing Policies

In determining whether a licence applicant has fulfilled the
licensing requirements, the EAA has formulated policies on
education, conviction of criminal offences and bankruptcy. These
policies will be reviewed from time to time.

In 2018/19, with a view to enhancing the effectiveness in
monitoring the discipline and practice of estate agents at first-
sale sites, the EAA revised its criminal conviction policy for cases
in which licensees have been convicted of any offence involving
violence when conducting estate agency work. Under the new
policy, the period for which the licence of such cases will be
revoked and not being granted a new one has been extended
from three years to five years. Such five-year ban is also applicable
to individuals, not being a holder of a valid licence, committing
any offence involving violence in the course of engaging in
promotional activities relating to the sale of first-hand properties.

In addition to the above changes, the new five-year ban also
extends to cases involving sexual offences and offences of
indecent conduct committed at the time the offender was
carrying out estate agency work, irrespective of the sentence
meted out by the court, as these offences would have a severe
impact on the personal safety or psychological well-being of a
client. The new policy took effect on 1 December 2018.

RNEE - EERIHLH 2,787 REMNRE
AR B EFERA7.5%

During the year, 2,787 new individual licences
were granted, a decrease of 17.5% compared
to that of the last year.
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Licensing Figures

The total number of individual licences continued to increase
in the year of 2018/19. As at 31 March 2019, there were 39,862
individual licences, representing an increase of 3.0% over
that of the previous year. Among these licences, 21,601 were
salesperson’s licences and 18,261 were estate agent'’s licences
(individual).

The number of company licences and SPOBs also reached new
heights, respectively at 3,804 and 7,078, representing an increase
of 5% and 3.3% over those of 31 March 2018.

In 2018/19, 2,787 new individual licences were granted, a decrease
of 17.5% compared to that of the last year.

Online Renewal of Licence Application

Individual licensees who have registered an e-Service account at
the EAA's website may submit their licence renewal applications
online. During the year, among the 28,711 renewal applications
received from individual licensees, 29.0% (i.e. 8339 renewal
applications) were submitted online.

BE=FRRREXFEHRASHE

Number of Licences and SPOBs in the Past Three Years
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Background of Individual Licensees

BERANEEKE(BZE2019F3831H)
Educational Level of Licensees (as at 31/3/2019)
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FERANER (82201963 HA31H)
Age of Licensees (as at 31/3/2019)
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HhE IR SR Operations of Estate Agency Business
—IDATE - 2018/19F B K Z St EE IR As usual, most of the estate agencies operated in 2018/19 were
BRORENKEE - BHLE2019F3 A4 small scale operators. As at 31 March 2019, 95.1% of agency

318 95.1%MKEEE R MR —HEEH - operators operated as a single shop and less than 1% had five or
ARG EARESHIALENIELR more shops.
1% °

REXBNEEENX (BE20195F3A31H)
Mode of Operation of Estate Agency Businesses (as at 31/3/2019)
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Partnerships
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* Operated by 3,804 company licensees
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REBEKWRE(BZ2019F3H31H)

Size of Operation of Estate Agency Businesses (as at 31/3/2019)
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Failure to Meet the Licensing Requirements

A licence applicant must have fulfilled certain requirements in
order to be granted a licence. If a licence applicant fails to meet
any of the licensing requirements, his/her licence application will
be refused. In 2018/19, a total of 114 applications were refused for
different reasons, such as applicants were considered not having
the required educational qualifications or not being considered
“fit and proper” persons to be granted a licence (e.g. bankruptcy or
conviction of criminal offence).

Even if a licence has been granted, a licensee’s licence may be
revoked if he/she is no longer eligible to continue to hold a
licence. During the year, a total of 34 licences were revoked by the
Licensing Committee as the relevant licensees no longer met the
licensing requirements.

Actions Taken Against Licensees by the Licensing Committee

1TEV$E B! Types of Actions

TERRBR _E B In1g(E Attachment of conditions to licence

A% B $E AR AR Suspension of licence

B2 RR Revocation of licence

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
104 97 56
1 1 0
29 30 34
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Scheme on Mutual Recognition of Professional
Qualifications of Estate Agents in the Mainland
and Hong Kong

With a view to boosting professional exchanges between estate
agency practitioners in the Mainland and Hong Kong and the
long-term development of the trade of both sides, the EAA and
the China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and Agents (“CIREA”)
signed a five-year agreement on 3 November 2010 to launch a
mutual recognition scheme for estate agents in the Mainland and
Hong Kong. The agreement was renewed for another five years in
2017.

Under the provisions of the agreement, both sides will each
nominate a certain number of qualified estate agents to participate
in a specially-designed training course and examination organised
by the other party within the five-year agreement period. Upon
completion of the said course and successfully passing the
examination, the nominees could apply for the CIREA registration
certificate or the EAA licence.

The second training course and examination of the scheme
were held in December 2017 in Zhuhai with 138 attendees
from Hong Kong and 28 from the Mainland respectively. All 166
participants passed the examination and were eligible to apply
for the qualification of the other party in 2018. Among these 166
participants, 126 Hong Kong and 26 Mainland attendees applied
for and were granted the qualification of the other party under the
scheme.

As at 31 March 2019, 249 Hong Kong estate agents held a
registration certificate issued by the CIREA and 32 Mainland estate
agents held an estate agent's licence issued by the EAA under the
scheme.

The EAA will continue to liaise with the CIREA for the arrangement
of the next round of nomination.
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Combatting money laundering and terrorist
financing risks in property transactions

Introduction of the amended Ordinance and EAA’s

new practice circular

In January 2018, the Legislative Council enacted the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2018 ("AMLQO"). This legislation, as taken
effect on 1 March 2018, extends the statutory requirements of
financial institutions in relation to anti-money laundering (“AML")
and counter-terrorist financing ("“CTF”") to cover also estate agents
as one of the Designated Non-Financial Businesses and Professions
("DNFBPs").

Consequential amendments were made to the Estate Agents
Ordinance ("EAQ") to the effect that non-compliance with the
requirements under the AMLO may trigger the application of
certain provisions in the EAQ, including suspension or revocation
of a licence under section 27, investigation under section 28
and provisions on disciplinary actions under section 29. At the
same time, the EAA is designated as the relevant authority for
monitoring and supervising estate agents’ AML/CTF compliance.

In February 2018, the EAA issued a practice circular setting out
clear and comprehensive guidelines on the AML/CTF requirements
for the estate agency trade to conduct customer due diligence,
perform risk assessment, maintain continuous monitoring of
customers, keep records, report suspicious transactions and
arrange staff training.

Enforcement and educational measures

During the year 2018, the EAA had taken a targeted approach and
a series of concrete measures to build licensee’s awareness on
AML/CTF and monitor their compliance to ensure that they would
meet the statutory requirements under the AMLO.
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On the enforcement front, the EAA conducted intensive
compliance inspections to supervise and regulate the estate
agency trade’s compliance with the AML/CTF requirements. The
number of AML/CTF compliance inspections carried out had
notably increased from 283 inspections in 2017/18, which was
before the AMLO took effect, to 786 in 2018/19.

Moreover, the following large-scale awareness building and
outreaching measures had been adopted to improve licensees’
understanding of their AML/CTF responsibilities and equip them
with the necessary knowledge of the AML/CTF requirements as set
out in the AMLO and the EAA’s practice circulars.
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information and updates for
licensees.

AML Corner

The EAA had developed an AML Corner in its website to facilitate
licensees’ easy access to useful and updated information on AML/
CTF. The AML Corner introduced several AML/CTF tools, such as a
Checklist for Licensees, a list of Suspicious Transaction Indicators,
as well as some useful links and the latest news on AML/CTF.
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The AML educational kit familiarises the

trade with the guidelines and assists them
in explaining to their clients about the
o related requirements.

Educational kit

The Authority also produced an educational kit which included
a copy of the EAA’s guidelines on AML/CTF, an information
leaflet and a poster. The educational kit was distributed to all
estate agency shops to help licensees explain to their clients the
importance of AML/CTF compliance.

e-Leaflet

Also, with the support of the Financial Services and the Treasury
Bureau, the EAA had produced an AML e-leaflet to help licensees
explain to their clients their statutory obligation to obtain copies
of customers’ identity documents for fulfilling the customer due
diligence and record-keeping requirements.

CPD activities

Continuing Professional Development (‘CPD") activities, newly
designed in collaboration with the Narcotics Division of the
Security Bureau, offered both frontline licensees and senior
management of estate agency firms opportunities to keep abreast
of their responsibilities and obligations under the AMLO and the
EAA’s guidelines on AML/CTF.
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Qualifying examinations

In its regular qualifying examinations, the EAA added new
questions on AML/CTF to ensure new entrants to the estate
agency trade have a good understanding of the AML/CTF
requirements.

Mutual Evaluation with FATF

In November 2018, representatives of the Financial Action Task
Force (“FATF"), an inter-governmental body that sets international
standards on combating money laundering and terrorist financing,
visited Hong Kong to conduct a review (also known as Mutual
Evaluation) on the effectiveness of Hong Kong's AML/CTF
measures.

Prior to the Mutual Evaluation which took place in November
2018, the EAA had submitted both the findings of its AML/
CTF compliance inspections as well as feedback to the FATF's
recommendations to the Security Bureau and the FATF. Also,
representatives of both the EAA and the estate agency trade were
invited to participate separately in the Mutual Evaluation to see if
both had met the FATF requirements on both AML and CTF.

The Mutual Evaluation Report compiled by the FATF is expected
to be published in the second half of 2019. It will summarise
the estate agency sector’s anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing measures in place as at the date of the on-site
visit. The report will also analyse the trade’s level of compliance
and level of effectiveness of the AML/CTF system and provide
recommendations on how the system could be strengthened. As
the Mutual Evaluation is an on-going exercise, Hong Kong, being
one of the FATF member jurisdictions, would have to demonstrate
its efforts and contributions in combatting money laundering and
terrorist financing. Likewise, the estate agency sector, as one of
the DNFBPs, would have to keep up its work to ensure effective
implementation of the AMLO amongst the trade as well as
practitioners’ AML/CTF compliance.
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Continuous effort by the EAA and the trade

After the Mutual Evaluation conducted by the FATF, emphasis
would be placed on the expansion of the EAA's AML/CTF
outreaching efforts and its risk-based inspections and enforcement
of the trade’s compliance.

New educational measures such as “train-the-trainers” courses
would be provided to equip staff members of estate agency firms
who are at managerial level with proper knowledge and skills in
supervising AML/CTF compliance of their firms. In addition, CPD
activities on the appropriate ways to report suspicious transactions
would be arranged to enhance licensees’ understanding of the
importance and proper ways to file suspicious transaction reports.

At the same time, the EAA will strengthen its manpower and other
resources to ensure sufficient and appropriate supervision of the
estate agency trade’s AML/CTF compliance. To foster the trade’s
effective management, supervision and control of their AML/
CTF compliance, a self-assessment form would be designed for
large estate agency firms’ use to assess their own AML/CTF risks,
vulnerabilities and compliance. Moreover, user-friendly AML/CTF
procedures would be devised for small firms’ adoption.

It is understood that the Hong Kong Government and the FATF
have high expectation on the DNFBPs, including the EAA as
well as the estate agency trade in complying with the AMLO.
As such, the EAA has been actively collaborating with the Hong
Kong Government, the Joint Financial Intelligence Unit and
other international counterparts to ensure consistent, effective
and efficient implementation of the AMLO. The EAA will keep
evaluating its overall enforcement and outreaching strategies such
that effective implementation of AML/CTF measures among the
trade is warranted.
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Ethics and Regulations

Introduction of regulations

The EAA reviews the practices of the trade and issues practice
circulars to provide guidelines and directives on estate agency
practice from time to time, to enable licensees to comply with
their duties under the law. In the year, two circulars were issued.

Issuance of practice circulars

In response to increasing public concern that advertisements for
properties issued by estate agents may contain false or misleading
particulars, the EAA issued a new practice circular providing further
guidelines for licensees when issuing advertisements.

According to this practice circular, estate agency companies, in
addition to obtaining the prior written consent of the vendors/
landlords and taking all reasonable steps to verify the accuracy of
the information contained in the advertisements before issuance,
must assign a unique identification number (“Property Number”)
to each property to be advertised and state clearly and legibly
the Property Number and the date of which the advertisement is
issued or updated (“Advertisement Date”) on the advertisement.
Moreover, estate agency companies must ensure that all
information contained in the advertisements is accurate and
valid as at the Advertisement Date. To assist the trade to better
understand the requirements of this practice circular, a set of
“Questions and Answers” ("QAs") were provided at the EAA website
for the trade’s reference.

As the order and conduct of estate agents at first-sale sites have
constantly aroused considerable public concern, the EAA issued an
enhanced practice circular setting out more stringent guidelines
on estate agents’ order at first-sale sites of residential properties.
According to this practice circular, estate agency companies must
not deploy non-licensed staff to the first-sale sites for any form of
promotional activities. Estate agency companies are also required
to appoint a Commander-in-Chief ("CIC") to monitor and oversee
the order and conduct of all staff deployed to first-sales sites, who
must be a holder of an estate agent’s licence (individual) for a
period of at least 10 years and has been working in a managerial
role for at least five years; or is a sole-proprietor/partner/director
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of the estate agency company. Moreover, he/she must not have
been subject to any disciplinary action within the last three years
prior to his appointment as CIC.

At least one day before the launch of the sale for each
development, estate agency companies also need to provide
to the EAA a list of all staff to be deployed; a chain of command
chart; and an internal policy on staff deployment and how to
manage staff's conduct for maintaining good order at the first-
sale sites through the CIC. To assist the trade to comply with the
requirements of this practice circular, QAs on pertinent issues,
“Sample Record of Pre-sale Briefing for First Sale of Residential
Properties” and “Sample Staff Attendance Record of Pre-sale
Briefing for First Sale of Residential Properties and List of Staff to be
Deployed” were prepared and uploaded on the EAA website.

Complaints and Inspections

Complaints and enquiries handling

In 2018/19, the EAA received 291 complaints, a decrease of 32%
from 425 complaints in 2017/18. The complaints concerning the
sale of first-hand residential properties had decreased from 80
cases in 2017/18 to 49 cases in 2018/19. Key allegations of the
291 complaints included mishandling the provisional agreement
for sale and purchase (or the provisional tenancy agreement),
providing inaccurate or misleading property information and
failure to enter into an estate agency agreement with clients or
explain the agreement to clients. The most common complaints
related to first-hand residential properties included failure to
honour rebate promises, provision of misleading mortgage
information and offering loans to purchasers.

In July 2018, the EAA launched a new single performance
pledge on its complaint handling process from the start of a
complaint investigation to the conduct of the first inquiry hearing
proceedings. Under the new performance pledge, the time from
commencement of investigation to the first disciplinary inquiry
hearing is set to be within 10 months for Normal Cases and within
13 months for Complex Cases respectively, where the case is
referred to the Disciplinary Proceedings Section for conducting
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inquiry hearing. For Fast Track Cases, which involve only common
but straightforward breaches to be dealt with under the New
Scheme for Disciplinary Cases, the time from commencement of
investigation to the publication date of admitted breaches on the
EAA website is set to be within six months. The new performance
pledge seeks to present a clearer picture to the public and
stakeholders as the pledge is based on a simple approach. Since
the implementation of the new performance pledge, both
the Complaints and Enforcement Section and the Disciplinary
Proceedings Section worked diligently to ensure all cases were
being dealt with thoroughly and expeditiously.

In addition to complaints, the EAA also received 7,265 enquiries
on estate agency practices in 2018/19, and in response to those
enquiries, the EAA took follow-up actions on 1,447 enquiries.
Due to the high volume of enquiries received over the past four
years, additional staff will be recruited in 2019 to help out on the
increasing workload so as not to compromise a good standard of
performance in handling public enquiries.

ELE RIN2018/1 95 [E 201 TRIZHR - 8
2017/18 5 EHI425RIF A 732% ©

In 2018/19, the EAA received 291 complaints,
a decrease of 32% from 425 complaints in
2017/18.
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Complaint Cases

{8222 B Number of Cases 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

37 B9 {EIZ Opened 477 425 291
B e B B Z* Completed* 368 440 333

* i?ﬂ?sﬁiﬁ’\ﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi%%ﬂﬂ% CE * Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous
BRREEEXLLEN TiLREBREEN years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt with by
T% AR BEFRITHAEENREEET the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases disposed of by the
PRI EIZE - Complaints and Enforcement Section.
2 55 BX B9 1B 2R 45 3 * Results of Cases Completed* 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
HEMAK L2 Substantiated” 95 131 106
HEME B SZ Unsubstantiated 131 187 146
E R Insufficient information to pursue 45 33 22
H b Others* 97 89 59
# 2 Total 368 440 333

* FANTHKNERDS RTFEENER &7 * Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous
BEREREBENLTEN TLEEAZEEREN years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt with by
fE% - AR BRFRITBSHEENREERD the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases disposed of by the
pava: ol EHE Complaints and Enforcement Section.

A MEZ PSR — TR S AR [ BT A A completed case will be classified as “Substantiated” if any of the allegations
V) ZETKEENERNEWEER [EW involved therein has been concluded as “Substantiated".
[PVl

" BEREBERE  BUHRFSEAEMRAE ML # Include cases which were curtailed, withdrawn or closed due to other reasons.
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Compliance inspections and investigations

In 2018/19, the EAA continued to maintain its enforcement effort
on places of estate agency business and promotion sites of first-
hand residential property developments. During compliance visits,
the Enforcement Team regularly reminded frontline practitioners
to observe and comply with the requirements of the newly issued
practice circulars (Practice Circulars 18-02(CR) & 18-03(CR)) in a bid
to raise their professional and ethical standards, while at the same
time, to ensure a high level of compliance. We also monitored
online and printed advertisements issued by practitioners.
Frequent cyber patrols on property online portals and related
advertisements enabled us to promptly identify breaches of the
regulations and guidelines and take timely enforcement actions.
Notwithstanding, the EAA saw a gradual increase in various
advertisement-related breaches as well as rising consumer
expectations in the matter. The Enforcement Team will continue
to take enforcement actions and spare no effort in scrutinising
property online platforms and social media to safeguard public
interest.

With the public’s increasing interest in buying overseas properties,
the EAA regularly conducts inspections to see if licensees abide
by the practice guidelines on marketing overseas properties. We
also proactively visit overseas properties promotional venues to
understand the various sales tactics used by the licensed estate
agents, and use covert techniques if and when necessary to detect
any malpractice such as misrepresentation when promoting these
properties.
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Having been designated as the regulatory body under the Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial
Institutions) (Amendment) Ordinance 2018 ("AMLQO") for
supervising estate agents in compliance with the legal and
supervisory requirements as set out in the AMLO since March
2018, the EAA is expected by both the Government and the
Financial Action Task Force to demonstrate a robust supervisory
and regulatory role in fulfilling the anti-money laundering ("AML")
and counter-terrorist financing (“CTF") obligations. As such, the
EAA has been working closely with the estate agency trade on the
implementation of measures to prevent money laundering and
terrorist financing. During the year, the Enforcement Team has
conducted 786 inspections on estate agency shops to see if they
are complying with the practice circular on AML/CTF requirements.
Follow-up off-site monitoring and prudential visits will be
conducted to further enhance the estate agency trade’s awareness
and understanding of the money laundering and terrorist
financing threats. In addition, the EAA has plans to design a self-
assessment form to provide a systematic approach for the trade’s
large operators to assess their own AML/CTF compliance. The EAA
will conduct regular review sessions with the trade and perform
spot checks on their branches to ensure the large operators will
effectively conduct their self-assessment. A prudential survey will
also be conducted to examine the profile of the trade operators to
identify, address and mitigate their money laundering and terrorist
financing risks.
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In 2018, in response to the invitation of the EAA, a total of 27
property developers signed a Charter on 11 July and the media
were invited to witness the event. The signing of the Charter aims
at promoting the good order of the sale of first-hand residential
properties. Through the Charter, property developers understand
and agree that it is important for them to maintain the good order
of first-hand residential property sales offices. They pledge to do
their best to provide consumers with an ideal sales environment to
make important purchase decisions. They also agree to condemn
severely and will not allow any estate agent or staff from estate
agency companies to disrupt the order or commit inappropriate or
violent acts at the sales office or its ancillary areas. Depending on
the circumstances, property developers may fine the estate agency
company and its employees who are involved in unruly behavior
in any sales activities. After the initial signing of the Charter, seven
more property developers also joined in the effort and signed the
Charter. Currently, 34 property developers have signed the Charter.

During the year, the EAA conducted a total of 3,252 compliance
inspections, of which 1,374 were at first-sale sites and 1,878
(including 786 AML/CTF inspections) at estate agency shops. Some
661 spot checks on online advertisements and 364 on online
property portals were also carried out during the period.

BRARKLRFE [—FEEVRHEENE] 2HFEA -

Representatives of developers attended the announcement ceremony for the “Charter on the Sales of First-hand Residential Properties”.
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Subsequent to these inspections and spot checks, 149
enforcement cases were opened, of which 14 cases arose
from first-sale inspections, 71 from estate agency shop visits,
38 cases from online and newspaper patrols and 26 cases of
a miscellaneous nature. Compliance failures, which constitute
violations of the EAQ, its subsidiary legislations, and Practice
Circulars commonly revealed during the inspection process
included issuing non-compliant advertisements, failing to possess
property information, and failing to complete prescribed forms
properly.
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Number of Cases

75 77 120

* Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous
years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt with by
the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases disposed of by the
Complaints and Enforcement Section.

Investigations into licensees/licence applicants
suspected of making false statements or

furnishing false information to the EAA

It is an offence to make a false or misleading statement or furnish
false or misleading information when making applications for
the grant or renewal of licences. In 2018/19, investigations were
conducted into 53 licence applications in which the applicants
were suspected of making false statements or furnishing false
information in their licence application or licence renewal process.
In the year, the EAA referred 39 suspicious cases to the Police for
criminal investigations.

[BRBE Number o Case —
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* Completed*
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60 64
65 37 50

¥ Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous years.
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Disciplinary Actions

Inquiry hearings

If the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") of the EAA has reasons to
believe that a licensee has failed to comply with the EAO and/or
its subsidiary legislation; or is not eligible to hold or continue to
hold a licence; or has failed to comply with a specified condition
attached to his licence, the CEO shall make a submission to the
Disciplinary Committee for consideration if an inquiry hearing
should be conducted.

The Disciplinary Committee, a standing committee established
under the EAO, receives, considers and conducts inquiries into
complaints and submissions by the CEO. If the Disciplinary
Committee, after conducting an inquiry hearing, is satisfied that
the complaint or submission is well-founded, it may exercise
disciplinary powers including admonishing or reprimanding
the licensee concerned, attaching/varying specified conditions
attached to his licence, suspending/revoking his licence, imposing
a fine and making a costs order.

In 2018/19, the Disciplinary Committee adjudicated 184 cases, of
which 177 were substantiated (i.e. 96.2%). As a result, a total of
180 licensees were disciplined, among whom 124 were individual
licensees' and 56 company licensees.

BB R -
A staged inquiry hearing.

' Including sole-proprietors and partners of estate agency firms.
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During the same period, 24 licences were suspended for periods
ranging from seven days to 14 weeks. Licensees disciplined were
found to have been engaged in unprofessional conduct such as
making misrepresentations, failing to protect and promote the
interests of their clients, or failing to exercise due care and due
diligence in fulfilling their duties.

A total of 129 licensees were fined, with the fines ranging from
$500 to $300,000.

Publication of reasons for the decisions of inquiry
hearings

For achieving greater transparency, the EAA has since February
2017 published on its website the reasons for the decisions of the
inquiry hearings conducted by the Disciplinary Committee.

The publication of the reasons for the decisions enables the estate
agency trade and the public to have a better understanding of the
EAA’s disciplinary decisions. It also gives licensees an opportunity
to learn about how to comply with the EAO and/or its subsidiary
legislation so that similar non-compliances could be avoided
in the future. Moreover, by demonstrating what regulatory
action is being or has been taken and the reasons behind,
public confidence in the regulatory role of the EAA can also be
maintained.

Number of Inquiry Hearings with Decision Handed Down

(,

250
200 187
150
100

50

229

184

WU ER
Number of hearings

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

HEREEER 2018-19 FiF

115



ERRE
Number of
Allegations

2018/19 FEE REHREIT*

Common Types of Non-compliance in 2018/19*

. EREERHYVENEEEERAREETEERMELNES
Failure to comply with the guidelines issued by the EAA when providing the floor area of the 26
property concerned in the advertisement

2. BUEERIRGUES  MHRERHESERIERGEULEEHNHER  REEHF
FEEREMELES  BFHERBHETNES
Issuing a false or misleading advertisement; providing to a newspaper a press statement 22
which included false or misleading information; advertising without vendor's prior written
consent; advertising in contravention of vendor's instruction

3. ETAELHESEYDMH BT ABER LS FEHH HElE - EREBUSHAE AT
BN TR RIS AREL F R EIRE
Placing or causing to be placed advertising materials on the pedestrian sidewalk; putting up 19
or causing to be put up a banner on the pedestrian fence; affixing an advertising placard in a
public place without the requisite permission

4. TEHESN—FRESN  RAMEMEARESR S E
Failure to wear Estate Agent card and/or staff card when promoting the sale of first-hand 17
properties

5. RABRTTAEFELMNER LA K SASEFASIBEBER

Failure to give and/or set out in writing the cash rebate as promised to clients

6. FREARARHEEEEFEINIRENDEMBEIRENESTEEHRPRERE (R
5717-03) F14) - O ROBRFTIEANER] « BB BRINORERIER - RERE
EREERNERIERTEY - RGEANAREEHE
Failure to state clearly the information as specified in paragraphs (14)(@@), (b) & (c) of Practice
Circular No. 17-03 (CR) in the advertisement prepared or distributed by the licensee for the
sale of an uncompleted property situated outside Hong Kong (UPOH); failure to obtain
the vendor's express endorsement in writing of the accuracy and completeness of the
information contained in the advertisement to promote the UPOH

7. ANEERRITAXRBHOBETERZRE  SIAREHDEZNIARBRITEBEAL - 3K
FIEARIRARA M EZRRAFTRARETRE T  RAEEMERIE HZT ] RA RS
fiER
Failure to complete a prescribed form in accordance with the directions specified in the 15
form or supply a completed prescribed form to a person or attach to a prescribed form such
documents as directed or specified in the form; failure to stipulate the term of validity period
in the estate agency agreement

8. MAEFPREHEERNVEXARZEN  REERRHTELPNYEARHEFMERENL
Providing wrong property or transaction information to clients; failure to verify the accuracy 13
of property or transaction information provided to clients

9. REETTHER  REMEF THAERE L HEMER HEEMERORD
Failure to conduct a land search; failure to supply the land search result/explain its contents 13
to the purchaser/tenant
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Number of
Allegations

2018/19 FEE REHREIT*

Common Types of Non-compliance in 2018/19*

10, RAEZHHEENZEXETNSD  REBRRREXFZZLRESZHE ML BRE
B HEREBEODATEEES HWHAANER MEEAEE  EXHksBPE
RINMEEERRE A - REZRERBOT LMD EE EARE
Failure to ascertain the ownership of the property before arranging it for rent; failure to
ensure that the signatory was duly authorised by the vendor/lessor or purchaser/tenant 12
to sign the provisional agreement for sale and purchase/tenancy agreement/provisional
tenancy agreement/estate agency agreement; failure to ascertain whether there was any
restriction on sub-letting in the head lease before arranging for the sub-tenant to sign the
sub-tenancy agreement

* oL EMA ARSI S NBBE—BERSEE ° * There could be more than one type of non-compliances in some inquiry
hearing cases.

= 5B a4k 5T R4~ &h *
Rlboli N L Bl onad i : 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Actions Taken Against Licensees or Former Licensees*

BRI A KA R A

: : ) 324 359 180

Number of licensees or former licensees involved
TEMEE
Type of actions'
SEYe
.~ =R _ 192 233 183
Admonishment/reprimand
2
=i 132 168 129
Fine

E{;’,\ & |5Z 2
e tMﬂJDfﬂﬁF. | | 177 - -
Attachment of conditions to licence?
i miH R R
= T%%Hga , 25 31 24
Suspension of licence
ﬁyfﬁﬁé . 294 304 34
Revocation of licence

© A ETE R ARRCHD E R IR ARG By RE ) 4E * These actions were taken pursuant to powers under the EAQ. Some actions

AR - B A DA TNEBR L EINLE - 3 may be disciplinary in nature and others not. Some cases were carried over
MREFRAPASHER - from previous years.

D B ERF - SEHE—FRALIRFEAK " In some cases more than one action was imposed on the same licensee or
ENiRR —IETTE) ° former licensee.

2 EB G R AR BRI B A - ELERRIBEIRP HN 2 Some conditions were attached upon the granting of licences and others

attached thereafter.

L EERERROERSAERESSHTE B 4 These cases were decided by the Licensing Committee on the ground that the

HERFEATBEAEER B GRE - licensees concerned no longer met the relevant licensing requirements.

WEREESS 2018-19 F8 | | /
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F

Professional Development

Practitioners working in the estate agency trade must always keep
their knowledge up to date to be professional and competitive.
Rather than being contented to rest on the knowledge and skills
gained through their education and experience in the past, it is
important for licensees to keep their knowledge up to date and be
fully conversant with the Estate Agents Ordinance, its subsidiary
legislation, Code of Ethics, other relevant guidelines, government
regulations as well as essential facts and developments in the real
estate market so as to meet the growing expectations from their
customers.

To nurture licensees’ quest for lifelong advancement and
encourage their continuous learning, the EAA launched a
voluntary Continuing Professional Development (“CPD") Scheme in
2005. Under the CPD Scheme, licensees are encouraged to attend
various courses to acquire a wide range of useful skills to develop
their expertise and professional abilities in order to effectively carry
out estate agency work.

The CPD Scheme

To facilitate licensees’ learning, the EAA provides CPD activities in
different forms, including face-to-face seminars and e-Learning
programmes. To complement the EAA’s CPD courses and
activities, other educational institutions, trade associations and
estate agency firms are encouraged to organise learning activities
under the CPD Scheme. Licensees are also encouraged to
undertake activities offered or accredited by the widely recognised
professional associations of those professions or areas where the
expertise of such fields are complementary to that of the estate

agency trade.

BREL [WERS - BEEWEESRE] WEHES
FEBEE -

CPD seminar on “Property Transactions -
Agreement” held.

Tenancy
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Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination

RTRAFEARRZ TENEERN
EERNMAMES THEBER TR
ANFEFREETES - PINEE - i
e M LEBEERE  AEESM
BRAORE  EE2E - KRERHLE
ERIEE

o - EERESBREREEER LD
RMABEREZHORE - LIRTFTFEA
MEBEE  ELEHMBIEORMAKA
B oRRIERRERER] UK
[2mEETER] - RLRAREERR
BREZEY  ZRERLEEZEAT
DIREORBE - EAMRB BRI A
MBENREREAKLOT B FER
EHEREERER

SEERSERE
FRNEERREMEMPEES LR
T S30EIFEEHEEBEES - | T
34,569 AR 2 81 - HEUF 58,795 fEl 1% 4B
BEEEES - ES3EEEF - 11610
(5B BB 215%) HEEREP -
S AR E12,954 (KE B2 8 AN RE
37.5%) °

BE=FNFEEXEKTE
CPD Activities in the Past Three Years

To provide licensees with a diverse selection of learning modes
to suit their own needs, the EAA and other activity organisers
organise and conduct CPD activities in various forms such as
seminars, lectures, web-based distance learning courses, award-
bearing courses, tours, delegation visits and professional exchange
activities.

In addition, the EAA includes a broad scope of subjects in the
various CPD activities to stimulate licensees’ interests. These
broad scope of subjects are classified under two main categories,
namely Compliance and Effective Management and All-round
Advancement. Subjects relating to law, compliance or supervisory
issues are categorised as Compliance and Effective Management,
while other subjects conducive to raising competence or enabling
personal accomplishment of licensees are grouped under All-
round Advancement.

Number of activities and enrolments

During the year, a total of 539 CPD activities were organised by the
EAA and other activity organisers. These CPD activities attracted
34,569 enrolments and attained 58,795 CPD points. Among the
539 activities, 116 (21.5% of the total number of activities) were
organised by the EAA with 12,954 enrolments (about 37.5% of total
enrolments).

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

EMEE

Activity Providers

SEEEE
No. of

Activities

EEREAA

HENRIEER Estate Agency Trade
Ho{th 3 BEEHRE Other Providers
#ER Total

BEHAR SEEEE BHEAR SEEEE BHEAR
No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of

Enrolments | Activities | Enrolments | Activities | Enrolments
15,747 119 16,021 116 12,954
10,727 366 12,702 403 20,832
78 9 210 20 783
26,552 494 28,933 539 34,569

HEREEER 2018-19 FF
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SEBEE
Number of Activities
(
600
500 N
EIRE
Activity Providers:
EER
400 A
WEREER
Estate Agency
300 Trade
A HAobF
Other Providers
200 “BE
Total
100
0
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
E3YNN
Number of Enrolments
|
40,000 .
34569 A
Activity Providers:
28933 s s
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A WEREER
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Other Providers
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Highlights of activities

CPD Activities on Anti-Money Laundering and Counter

Terrorist Financing

In response to the amendment of the anti-money laundering
("AML") and counter-terrorist financing (“CTF") legislation to
cover the estate agency sector, the EAA issued to the licensees
its “Guidelines of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Requirements for the Estate Agency Sector”. To help
licensees fully understand the legal requirements and EAA's
guidelines in relation to AML/CTF, 55 CPD activities were held
during the year and they attracted 9,383 enrolments in total. As an
expansion of AML/CTF outreach amongst licensees remains one
of the EAA’s priorities, extensive CPD activities on AML/CTF will be
provided regularly.

BIEA [HIEBE-BSREIT18-01(CR) ARMERE
FETRABRRBMY FECESRTENES - EE
BREBTHREBEMN] MSEEREEHERL -

CPD seminar on “Practice Circular No.18-01 (CR) - Guidelines
on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Requirements - Points to Note for Senior
Management, Managers and Persons-in-Charge” held.

EAA’s Certificate Programme in Practice

Since 2016, the EAA has been organising a structured programme
titled "EAA’s Certificate Programme in Practice” with a view to
helping the less experienced licensees build a solid foundation
for carrying out effective estate agency practices. During the year,
20 classes were held and they attracted 2,367 enrolments. While
positive responses from the participants have been received, the
EAA will keep updating and enhancing this structured programme
based on participants’ feedback so as to ensure that the most
updated knowledge and skills are brought to the licensees.

HEREEER 2018-19 FiH
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CPD Courses under Strategic Partnership with

Educational Institutions

In 2018, the EAA established a strategic partnership with two local
universities, namely HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education and Institute for Entrepreneurship — The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University respectively to further enhance the quality
of CPD courses for the estate agency trade practitioners. During
the year, 11 courses were held under the strategic partnerships,
with a total of 470 enrolments. The course feedbacks revealed that
the course participants responded positively to the course and
felt that the courses were both appealing and useful. In addition,
they found that the knowledge acquired from these courses had
broadened their horizons for personal development.

CPD Seminars in Cross Disciplines

In light of the licensees’ growing interest in knowledge of
cross disciplines, the EAA has organised CPD seminars in multi-
disciplines. During the year, the EAA invited representatives and
members of other regulatory bodies and professional associations
as guest speakers to deliver CPD seminars. Guest speakers
from various regulatory bodies and professional associations
included the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants; the
Competition Commission; the Equal Opportunities Commission;
the Hong Kong Green Building Council; the Immigration
Department; the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers;
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors; the Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited; the Independent Commission Against
Corruption; the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal
Data; the Hong Kong Police Force; the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors; and the Sales of First-hand Residential
Properties Authority. During the year, 31 CPD activities on subjects
of cross disciplines were held and these activities attracted 8,394
enrolments.
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CPD incentives and premium recognitions

Under the CPD Scheme, points would be assigned to CPD
activities based on the nature of the activity and the input required
from the learner. Generally, one CPD point will be awarded for
each hour of activity undertaken. Practitioners who earned 12 or
more CPD points in a 12-month CPD period are considered having
achieved the CPD yearly attainment target and will be awarded
the CPD Attainment Symbol. With effect from the CPD period
commencing 1 October 2013, licensees who have achieved their
CPD attainment targets for three and five consecutive CPD periods
will also be awarded the Premium CPD Attainment Symbol — Silver
(“Silver Symbol”) and Premium CPD Attainment Symbol - Gold
("Gold Symbol”) respectively.

During the year, the first batch of the CPD activity participants who
had achieved the CPD attainment target consecutively for five
years in the CPD periods commencing 1 October 2013, 2014, 2015,
2016 and 2017, were awarded the Gold Symbol.

In addition to the CPD Attainment Symbol, the Silver Symbol and
the Gold Symbol which are presented to individual licensees,
holders of Statement of Particulars of Business ("SPOB”) with over
80% of their licensed employees (including the branch manager)
having achieved the yearly CPD attainment target will be
presented with the CPD Mark for Estate Agencies.

EERRESBEURGHIEATEE B2 EEEED
RITEEAF o

Gold Symbol is awarded to licensees who make continuous
effort to enhance their professional knowledge through
participation in CPD activities.

WEREESS 2018-19 F8 | 2D
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2018/195 &
Rk BREHE
Achievement No. of awardees
in 2018/19

E—EEERBREIRESEECTINEDERNIHE | BEZEECHERTRE
A* 1877
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for one CPD period* | CPD Attainment Symbol

BB = AR ERRERREE R EETENED ZRME | RE
A (B20135 1071 B G HEBR R ER)
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for three consecutive | Silver Symbol 98
CPD periods (with effect from the CPD period commencing
1 October 2013)

FEBT S ERRERREE R EETENED ERNE | €8
A (B20135107 1 B REER R ER)
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for five consecutive Gold Symbol 275

CPD periods (with effect from the CPD period commencing
1 October 2013)

Foonsd A LFFEERS (BREITEE) EREEXEE HERERHERELEER
HEIMEN BRMEXFBIHASHAA FHEE

W

42
Holders of SPOB with over 80% of licensed employees (including | CPD Mark for Estate Agencies
the branch manager) having achieved the CPD attainment target
* BEFEERECRRAM2EA  AEF10 *  Each CPD period shall be a 12-month period commencing 1 October each
ATBEEBFIA30BIE- year and ending on 30 September the following year.
M EBEE) E-Learning programmes

ARETFEENEBTEA TR A B To offer licensees a flexible learning option, the EAA has been
ER—ENE THEREERE SR producing e-Learning programmes on timely and topical subjects.
FEDIE . RN ETREHEE S During the year, the EAA added three new e-learning programmes
BEA LB AR FEEEE . B to its e-Learning platform. These e-Learning programmes newly
SR FEBEE)  RENH%EEH added during the year, with programme-end tests embedded,
B - EAINMEIEA TRESDEMEY were specially produced to strengthen licensees’ understanding
S RETEE - BN 285 of the new practice circulars issued by the EAA. As e-Learning has

AN LS ETNER  ETRY been gradually gaining acceptance and adoption amongst estate
SIRHE L BB - RS AT agency trade practitioners, more e-Learning programmes will be
BEREREHI 2T o developed to enable licensees’ learning at anytime and anywhere.
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BE=FEERNELEEEH

EAA's e-Learning Programmes in the Past Three Years

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

EERM 2R EHHE i . 5
Number of EAA’s e-Learning programmes
EERA BB EHN2MARK

. : 455 441 635
Number of participants of EAA's e-Learning programmes
EERMIEEEHNZEAR

1,901 1,943 2,082
Number of enrolments of EAA’s e-Learning programmes
BIEEEEEHENAREE Future of the CPD Scheme

RE—TRIEBEFREEHENEE
mE BEREMRNTRE AL
PHOBEERECEY - BERKE
BHBFHOALTMAREMOZTHEEE
RIRRESE © WO MER ST IE
g tEntERENSEIEE
THEEXRAS - EEREEFAME
SRHEHEXEREY  FRUEEBS
ER(ZEmBE]Im[ARE]IRE
BIsdpT) [52EY - [EmA
E1  [HEEWE | FMTETRTT] - B
RIEEEBEBNBFEZEREEE
EEMERERRENEXENNITIE
MR R FEATUEZTRENA
BMEANFEEREBRE @51
PIEE Lo -

With an aim to further enrich the learning activities organised
under the CPD Scheme, the EAA has been planning to introduce
new CPD activities in different formats. The EAA will consider
inviting prominent role models and successful business leaders
to share their stories on “Key to Success”. In addition, different
stakeholders to a property transaction would be engaged to
conduct professional exchanges on various issues with estate
agents. Moreover, more CPD activities would be planned to
encourage practitioners to strive towards the “5A” qualities, that
is "Adherence, Ability, Accountability, Advancement and Affinity".
All these courses aim to bolster the CPD Scheme by raising the
professional competency and effectiveness of the estate agency
trade practitioners and at the same time, the licensees could have
a balanced mix of CPD courses on different contents and formats
to enrich their learning experience.

HEREEER 2018-19 FiF
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Public Education and Stakeholder Liaisons

Consumer education

The EAA attaches great importance to promoting consumer
related knowledge and the professional qualities of the trade to
the public. To deliver these comprehensive messages, different
consumer education campaigns were launched through multiple
communication channels in the year of 2018/19.

To promote the professional qualities and image of licensed estate
agents to the public, a publicity campaign was launched in March
2019. The campaign promoted the “5A" qualities of professional
estate agents, namely, “Adherence”, "Ability", "Accountability”,
"Advancement” and "Affinity” through advertising on trams, buses
and bus shelters, as well as the Internet. Through the campaign,
the EAA aimed to educate the consumers to focus on the high
caliber of an estate agent when they are choosing one. Posters
were also distributed to all estate agency shops to remind the
frontline estate agents of attaining such standards.

In addition, to further extend the EAA’s reach to the younger
generation, the EAA initiated its first collaboration with “Arm
Channel”, a popular social media platform, and produced a micro-
movie. The micro-movie showcased the importance of appointing
a professional estate agent through a lively and interesting story
which resonated with the youngsters. It was uploaded to different
social media channels, which attracted a high number of viewings.

The EAA always reminds consumers to enter into an estate agency
agreement with their appointed estate agent. In order to raise
public awareness on this subject again, the EAA re-launched an
Announcement in the Public Interest (“API") through television
broadcasts in the year to remind the public about the importance
of signing the estate agency agreement.

The EAA held two public seminars in 2018/19 to enhance the
public’s knowledge when using the services of estate agents.
Professionals were invited to share their insights and experiences
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on different hot topics in the property market while the EAA’s
representative also shared some useful tips on appointing licensed
estate agents. Both seminars received a very positive response
from the public. Video highlights of these seminars were also
uploaded to the EAA’s websites and YouTube channel for the
public’s viewing.

As investing in non-local properties has become more and more
popular, the EAA stepped forward to educate the public on the
risks in purchasing properties situated outside Hong Kong and
participated in an overseas properties expo in June 2018. A leaflet
titled "Appoint Licensed Estate Agents to Deal with the Purchase of
Uncompleted Properties Situated Outside Hong Kong” was produced
and distributed to the public. The EAA’s staff answered the public’s
enquiries in the expo and also delivered a talk to the public on this
topic. In order to provide more useful information for the public’s
reference, a new page focused on property transactions situated
outside Hong Kong was also launched under the EAA’'s consumer
education website (http://smart.eaa.org.hk) during the year.

Separately, a leaflet titled “Anti-money Laundering in Property
Sales and Purchases, Estate Agents and Customers Have
Their Respective Responsibilities” was also produced in the

year to educate the consumers and estate agents about their
responsibilities on combatting money-laundering and terrorist
financing.

EERN2019F3ARREMED @ RAFEMER

- REAE [=SmE] & [SARIE] =5 -
A publicity campaign promoting the "5A" qualities of
professional estate agents was launched in March 2019.
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Media relations

Being one of the key communication channels between the EAA
and the public, it is important to keep a close connection with
the media in order to publicise its initiatives and efforts. During
the year, the EAA issued 13 press releases and held two press
conferences which gained wide media coverage. A total of 14
feature interviews were arranged for the EAA Chairman and CEO
with major print and electronic media. At the same time, the EAA
maintained a cordial relationship with the media by organising
media luncheons and the Chinese New Year gathering with
frontline journalists.

To further promote consumer-related information through mass
media channels, the EAA regularly contributes articles on current
topics relating to property transactions and expected services of
estate agents to the media. In 2018/19, the EAA contributed a total
of 43 articles to six print and online columns, namely, The Standard,
the property magazine and website of Sing Tao Daily, the websites
of Sing Tao Overseas Property, Hong Kong Economic Journal, cnfol.
com and South China Morning Post.

FR -
BBRER ©

During the year, the EAA Chairman and CEO had numerous feature
interviews with different print and electronic media.
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Trade communications

The EAA believes that maintaining a good rapport with the trade
to gain their understanding and support for the work of the EAA
is essential for pursuing a higher standard of trade practices. The
EAA hosted three liaison meetings with the representatives of
major trade associations in 2018/19 as a regular dialogue and two-
way exchange with the trade. Apart from the regular trade liaison
meetings, the EAA had two separate meetings with different
trade associations and eight meetings on the subject of Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing, with a view to
facilitating the trade’s better understanding of the subject. Issues
of mutual concern were also discussed and the trade was briefed
on the salient points of the new practice circulars the EAA issued.

In addition to liaison meetings with representatives of trade
associations, focus group meetings with licensees in various
districts were also organised to maintain direct dialogue with
frontline practitioners. At these meetings, the EAA invited licensees
to share practice issues they encountered, which helped the EAA
formulate practical policies, guidelines and measures for the trade.

During the year, four focus group meetings with positive feedback
were held in South Horizons, Pak Tin, Tuen Mun and Quarry Bay
respectively.

EERREEERATSNRTHRITHA
VB o

The EAA hosted regular liaison meetings with different trade
associations to mainitain two-way exchange with the trade.

T REER
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Focus group meetings with frontline licensees in various districts were

conducted regularly to maintain direct dialogue.
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The EAA also from time to time issues letters or reminders to
licensees in the form of email or special notices published on the
EAA’'s website to alert them to certain requirements relating to
the estate agency practice, and to reminders or new measures
from the Government. In 2018/19, a total of 19 such letters or
notices were issued. In addition, four issues of the EAA’s newsletter
for licensees, Horizons, were published in the year to keep
licensees abreast of the EAA’s regulatory measures and our latest
activities. Members of the public could either collect a copy of
the newsletter at the EAA office or read the e-version at the EAA’s
website. By attending different trade events in 2018/19, the EAA
also maintained a cordial relationship with the trade.

Exchanges and liaisons with other stakeholders

During the year, the EAA also maintained a good relationship with
external stakeholders, including the Government, professional
institutes and other public bodies. As it is essential for estate
agents to keep informed of relevant government regulations and
new developments in the market, we also received news updates
and information from various departments or organisations such
as the Sales of First-hand Residential Properties Authority, Lands
Department, Buildings Department, Land Registry, Housing
Authority, Consumer Council, Equal Opportunities Commission,
Competition Commission, Office of the Privacy Commissioner for
Personal Data and Property Management Service Authority, etc,
and relayed to our licensees the updated information relating to
the estate agency sector.

In addition to liaisons with local stakeholders, the EAA also had
exchange meetings with different professional, statutory and trade
bodies both local and outside Hong Kong. During the year, the
EAA received a delegation from Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs
of the United Kingdom, a delegation from the Tokyo Real Estate
Association Chiyoda Central branch of Japan, and a delegation
from the Wuhan Real Estate Brokerage Industry Association. At
these meetings, the delegates were informed of the regulatory
regime of the estate agency sector in Hong Kong and we also
learned a lot from them.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY
ERIBEER

(established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Estate Agents
Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Estate Agents
Authority set out on pages 137 to 184, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the
statement of income and expenditure, statement of movements
in reserve and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of Estate Agents Authority as at 31 March
2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Estate Agents Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of Estate Agents Authority
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Other Information

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Estate Agents Authority’s Responsibility for
the Financial Statements

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Estate Agents
Ordinance, and for such internal control as Estate Agents Authority
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Estate Agents Authority is
responsible for assessing its ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless Estate Agents
Authority either intends to liquidate Estate Agents Authority or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for overseeing its financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 12 of the Estate Agents Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of Estate Agents Authority’s
internal control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by Estate Agents Authority.

Conclude on the appropriateness of Estate Agents Authority’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on Estate Agent Authority's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause Estate Agents Authority to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with Estate Agents Authority regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 July 2019
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W EEx Statement of Income and Expenditure
BZE2019F3831HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2019
2019 2018
k=3 BT BT
NOTES HK$ HKS
WA Income
[RRR & Licence fees 5 80,971,414 77,302,651
EDE Examination fees 6 9,111,200 8,231,550
MEHA Interest income 2,780,858 2,160,616
92,863,472 87,694,817
fegan Expenditure
=B & Auditor's remuneration 102,000 69,000
NBHBERL Community education expenses 1,796,598 1,965,972
Wik - ABERLEEWFHANEZE  Complaints, investigation and
disciplinary proceedings expenses 120,555 148,250
e Depreciation 8 4,998,076 2,295,621
BMBIERERBAER Equipment maintenance and
communication expenses 1,920,916 1,602,470
HERIEES H Estate agent card expenses 90,342 90,630
1R Insurance 1,265,973 1,182,436
REZEY Motor vehicle operating expenses 207,768 189,922
PANERBBERY Office accommodation and related
expenses 3,502,658 2,532,625
e EdEe - THREF Operating lease rentals in respect
of land and buildings 7,771,583 9,095,937
EiE=3 Postage 388,671 370,140
RIS B Printing and stationery 504,108 469,220
BEREER Professional service fees 42,000 100,000
NEBERBEE Public relations and liaison 51,263 34,567
EERES Publicity and advertising 20,300 339,778
BT A Staff costs
— ¥ KERE — wages, salaries and allowances 48,930,361 51,302,637
— R B ~ contributions to mandatory
provident fund scheme 1,396,713 1,442,438
ZIR%EE Service fees for examinations 6,138,421 5,952,265
I EEFR Y Training activity expenses 659,408 816,957
H A e Other expenses 741,116 579,860
80,648,830 80,580,725
FARBIEMEAREGEEEE  Surplus and total comprehensive

income for the year 12,214,642 7,114,092

hERIEESE 201819 £8 |3/
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B #EAR R 3= Statement of Financial Position
20193 A31H At 31 March 2019
2019 2018
BRE BT 7T
NOTES HKS$ HKS
EMENEE Non-current assets
M - HEE R Property, plant and equipment 8 84,539,703 2,699,244
HBEYE MRINFHEZ Deposit paid for acquisition of
BEfiEe property, plant and equipment 9 - 12,950,210
84,539,703 15,649,454
MENEE Current assets
R ~ TENRIBRIZ® Debtors, prepayments and deposits 3,900,342 3,994,762
TEBIE R Time deposits 10 64,959,029 21,786,359
RITER RS Bank balances and cash 10 115,300,886 211,393,631
184,160,257 237,174,752
mEEE Current liabilities
e ER AN FEETIE B Creditors and accruals 11,531,310 8,963,443
EIEUA Deferred income 11 = 62,921,218
B YW HRER BR s Rk B Licence application fees received 12 = 4,235,492
aHARE Contract liabilities 13 68,249,955 -
79,781,265 76,120,153
mMEEEFE Net current assets 104,378,992 161,054,599
BmEERREAE Total assets less current liabilities 188,918,695 176,704,053
& Reserve 188,918,695 176,704,053

HNFE 1372184 B 2 MR KR ML 2019F
7ABEEMERBEE BEEKE I E
NEREFE > WHIATRRESE

The financial statements on pages 137 to 184 were approved and
authorised for issue by the members of Estate Agents Authority on
23 July 2019 and are signed on their behalf by:

Rk BRI 5% William LEUNG Wing-cheung Ruby HON
= T AAZL CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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REEF K Statement of Movements in Reserve
BZ2019F3831HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2019
5t
Total
BT
HK$
R20174E4 18 At 1 April 2017 169,589,961
FRALR Surplus for the year 7,114,092
7201853 H31 B 201854 1B  At31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 176,704,053
FARH Surplus for the year 12,214,642
R 201943 A31H At 31 March 2019 188,918,695

HEEHERBEER([EERMNE Reserve represents retained cumulative surplus from the
BREAR - operations of Estate Agents Authority ("EAA”).
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HERER Statement of Cash Flows
BZE2019F3831HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2019
2019 2018
BT BIT
HK$ HKS
EE T E OPERATING ACTIVITIES
FREHRK Surplus for the year 12,214,642 7,114,092
M THEIBEELRE Adjustments for:

FEHBA Interest income (2,780,858) (2,160,616)

e Depreciation 4,998,076 2,295,621
LEECER  EBIMERE  Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital 14,431,860 7,249,097
FEUERR « TENFUE MR Decrease (increase) in debtors,

B (35 0) prepayments and deposits 665,121 (281,303)
FENEBER R IEZTTEE A OFi4)  Increase (decrease) in creditors and accruals 2,567,867 (1,985,922)
PEIEYT A LE AN Increase in deferred income = 5,042,756
B MR R R BRI R Decrease in licence applications fee received - (689,159)
BH B BN Increase in contract liabilities 1,093,245 -
MBS B PS4 R EE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 18,758,093 9,335,469
BEEH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
REUE HITFERX Withdrawal of time deposits = 65,439,040
GFEEHER Placement of time deposits (43,172,670) —
BEME - s EE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (73,888,325) (584,956)
2 U F & Interest received 2,210,157 2222234
BEWME  HEkREZ Deposit paid for acquisition of property,

BEflike plant and equipment - (12,950,210)
"EED (FTA) FT5IR & F8 NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (114,850,838) 54,126,108
Re MReEEY(RD) NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH

HEHNFER AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (96,092,745) 63,461,577

FHHIRE FIREFEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 211,393,631 147,932,054
FRMIRE MRS FEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE

END OF THE YEAR 115,300,886 211,393,631
Be MReZEMEHRIN ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS:
IRTTHEBR KR E Bank balances and cash 115,300,886 211,393,631
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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RAFEE  BEERBRFEAIATH
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RIEBM B S ER R RE

BAMBHEEE R
HKFRS 9

BAMBHREEE 155
HKFRS 15

&5 (ERTBREREEES)
—RREFE 2%
HK(FRIC)-Int 22

BB EHRELERE 2SR
Amendments to HKFRS 2

General

EAA was established with the principal functions of
promoting integrity and competence of estate agents and
issuing estate agents’ licences under the Estate Agents
Ordinance dated 29 May 1997 (date of enactment). The
address of the registered office and principal place of
business of EAA is Room 4801, 48th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the same as the functional currency of EAA.

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

EAA has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs and an interpretation issued by the HKICPA for the
first time in the current year:

TETEA
Financial Instruments

EFEEHBAKIERIEE]
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related
Amendments

HNEE 22 5 R FAN R AB
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

AR RERNRR SN DB NS
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions
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Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(”H KFRSS”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

HEBMBRELENE 4RRR SO —HEANTEV KR
EFEAFFEHMITE

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

EREBEBVIBHREER 2014 E 2016 FIREAZ FEUHE Z &
g

As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

KREYEEZ

Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the above
new and amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation in
the current year has had no material effect on the EAA’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(”H KFRSS”) (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

BEFEEHWBA

RAFEE BEEREXRAE
BB ImEERE 1558 c BE
B sk R FE 15 5EIR B S
SEHEAF 18R A - BEE
FHEERIE 11 SRS A X R AR

EERCBEREBIMEH
SAERE 155 - REXEARAR
HA (20184 A1 H)ERE X
FERZERZ BT E - NH
IR FEFR B B 2 R BERERR R
R REREHB R EES AL
BRER - N BBEBBHE
WEERF 155 2 BEGES
EEREEZEBZENEBN
JEFRM2018F 481 BE AT
RZEH - At - ARLEERE
BRI R S ERISE 1855
WARBBSFERE 15
BEARARBEBZEMRE - W
ATHRER AJREEALE -

Customers

EAA has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

EAA has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 April
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening accumulated reserve
and comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, EAA has elected to apply the
standard retrospectively only to contracts that are
not completed at 1 April 2018. Accordingly, certain
comparative information may not be comparable as
comparative information was prepared under HKAS
18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

MENREEER 2018-19 Fi#f
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Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
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%&EIJJ) (%) (“HKFRSS") (continued)
2.1 ERMBHREENE 15 2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
BEEEHRA (#) Customers (Continued)
EERERERPREIISRM EAA recognises income from the following major
EENTEEZRRMWA sources which arise from contracts with customers:

Licence fees income;
Examination fees income;

Interest income (under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments)

Information about EAA’s performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of
HKFRS 15 are disclosed in note 3.

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of HKFRS 15

The application of HKFRS 15 has no material impact on
the EAA’s accumulated reserve at 1 April 2018

The following adjustment was made to the amounts
recognised in the statement of financial position at 1
April 2018. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.
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2. ERIIIREIEET2E®S 2. Application of New and Amendments to

MR EER ([ B AT Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
i&%ﬁﬁu J) (#&) (“HKFRSS") (continued)
21 BERMBHREERE 155 2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
BEFEHWA (1) Customers (Continued)
BRAEREBMEREERNSE Summary of effects arising from initial application
15EAEEFENME(8) of HKFRS 15 (Continued)
RiIZEE
b1 B RS 2R
2018 £ 1558
3A31H 20184
2R REE ES g 48181
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 15

31 March 2018 Reclassification at 1 April 2018
BT T BILTT BT T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
nmEIEE Current liabilities
B A (FIFE) Deferred income (Note) 62,921,218 (62,921,218) -
B RREREE A (FI5E) Licence application fees
received (Note) 4235492 (4,235,492) -
S881E (M) Contract liabilities (Note) = 67,156,710 67,156,710
Bt ek - PR ¥ 46 B AR & 7 B 765 R 5 22 B Note: At the date of initial application, receipt in advance of
H BEEFPEITERMES HK$67,156,710 arising from contracts with customers are
K TEUFRIE 67,156,710 8T 28 conditional, and hence such balance was reclassified from
1R - FLZE AR E A deferred income and licence application fees received to
B Y IR RE WA K B W hE R B 5 contract liabilities.

REEFTHAREGNAE -

wEREEER 20181988 | 4D
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2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

%@—EE\U J) (%) (“HKFRSS") (continued)
21 EEMBHREERE15H 2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
BEFEHWA #) Customers (Continued)
BRAEREBMEREERNSE Summary of effects arising from initial application
15 FTEE S ENME (&) of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

EREEMBEHRELERES

The application of HKFRS 15 has no material impact

REHEERAFRERIER
NIERN BT EEKNERT
Z2.-pXTENSEEBEEM
= TRBAERAB BN R
HERFE 155 EHEE BR2019
EBHﬂEZ$¢F%%#R

on the amounts recognised in the EAA's statement
of income and expenditure for the current year. The
following table summarises the impacts of applying
HKFRS 15 on EAA’s statement of financial position as at
31 March 2019 and its statement of cash flows for the
current year for each of the line items affected. Line

*KERHEBRERERNTE items that were not affected by the changes have not
R MES| AR TV@E’JIE been included.
E o

HYP BRI RI &

Impact on the statement of financial position

i 2019 F
RERE B
i%iﬁ%i%ﬁ']
Wi 2019 F $15%
23 BNoE ZEH
Amounts
without
As application of
reported HKFRS 15
2019 Reclassification 2019
BT BT T BT TIT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
nEIEE Current liabilities
RIEWA Deferred income - (64,457,573) 64,457,573
B FR R 5 SR IE Licence application fees
received - (3,792,382) 3,792,382
BREE Contract liabilities 68,249,955 68,249,955 =

] 46 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19
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2. BAFETREIEE] 2&) 2. Application of New and Amendments to

MR EER ([ B AT Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

i&%ﬁﬁu J) (#&) (“HKFRSS") (continued)

21 EEMBHREERE15H 2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
EFEHWA (&) Customers (Continued)
BRERAEBUEHRELERSE Summary of effects arising from initial application
15EAEEFENME(8) of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

HELREXTE Impact on the statement of cash flows
M 2019 F
RERE B
HERELEL]
WA 2019 F E155%
2% BNoE 228
Amounts
without
As application of
reported HKFRS 15
2019 Reclassification 2019
BTt BT T BT
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000

EETE Operating activities

EUERREREFRIEE N Increase in licence
application fees

received - 443110 (443,110)
PEEN A D Decrease in deferred

income - (1,536,355) 1,536,355
AHAEEM Increase in contract

liabilities 1,093,245 1,093,245 -

wEREEEE 20181058 |4/
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22 EBMKRELEREIRE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(”H KFRSS”) (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related

148

BT BN AHRAER]

RAHR  EERERHAEL
ARSI E R E o R E fth
BAEMBHREEAELAES
R ZIER] - BAMBRE LR
FORSIABRQEHEE
EREBABEIDBNTE &
bEREETHREEER -

EERERAEBUBHREE
A oSk Pk 2 38 16 S FE R
BT BERELERFEGR - Bl
HR2018F4A1B(EHXE
BEHS) TEKLIERZTA
BYERASBERFERTE (R
RFREBEHEEBBEEX T 2R
B) - RWEmEER2018F4H
VAR IEERZ T ARAERH
HRIE °

F& P& 78 B 7% i & 2R BRI SE 9 5%
PSSl B M B et R B O MY 5
3o

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

amendments

In the current year, EAA has applied HKFRS 9 and the
related consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (a) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, and (b) expected credit loss (“ECL")
for financial assets.

EAA has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with
the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, ie.
applied the classification and measurement
requirements (including impairment under ECL
model) retrospectively to instruments that have not
been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date of initial
application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1 April 2018.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS
9 are disclosed in note 3.
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22 BERMBREEREIRE
BT B R AEBAERT ()

BRAERAEREMBREERS
IFELLENEE

EERREEE2018F4A1H
IR e RMEEETT
BTG - BARBYBR
HEBNEORHZETBREK
FHERMEEDERTETE
BEREATE  EERRER
BB REERF IR E
FRAEFNLBENANNE S
BRI S A TR & B IR IR A B R
FRNFIEEERREERME
ERLERE - ARZSHE
WREBTENKN - 1R2018F 4 A
1 BN R R INR B R o

EEMENRERZEERB
&R AT RIBT A

B B KRR AN TR E

T e Y T

RIEHTA

BAMBHRELERF 1657
HKFRS 16

BB ISRELERIE 1758

HKFRS 17

=5 (AR HRE2REZES)
—2EE 235

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

BRPBRELEERT

Amendments to HKFRSs

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(”H KFRSS”) (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related
amendments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of HKFRS 9

EAA reviewed and assessed the EAA’s financial assets
as at 1 April 2018 based on the facts and circumstances
that existed at that date. The application of HKFRS
9 has had no material effect on classification and
measurement of financial assets in these financial
statements. EAA reviewed and assessed the EAA's
existing financial assets for impairment using
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort in accordance
with the requirements of HKFRS 9. No additional
impairment allowance was recognised at 1 April 2018 as
the amount is considered not material.

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

EAA has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HE'

Leases'

RERE 403

Insurance Contracts®
PRSI e E £ R BR 7R
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

EEMBEHEEN T -AFE_T—+FHAY
ZFEBE
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

mEpmees 201819 58m | 40
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FER#TE] REIEE] 2 BB
B EREZER ([ BB B
W|EZEER ) )
CHEAEMRERZEBY K
EERFET RIERT AR (&)

BB B ELERE 3TRIEFT A
Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB HRE 2RI 9O SRISET A
Amendments to HKFRS 9

BB BREERFE10FEFTA
REBEETERSE 28 RIEF] AR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BERSFIERE 1 RIEFTAR
MEBSTELESHIBEIA
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

BBSFERE 19T
Amendments to HKAS 19

BB GFERE 28 RIEEF] A
Amendments to HKAS 28

1 R-E-—NF—A—-BRZERBN

FEHIR A

2 REFE R sk 2 AR FEE BB E
3

3 KRB —F—A— B ZEBHRD
FEEHARM A

4 HBERHAR T _TF—A—H
2 BFRN B EFEBR &R
R ER A O B EWEER

5 R-E-ZTF—A—BRZERBH
FEHMER

BRA TR R A] BB ISR E &
AN BEEREEERRMBE
tFTE] MRIERT 2 B R M B E %
AR AR ] BRI A T8 B35
BREEBATE -

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(”H KFRSS”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

EIGHER"

Definition of a Business*

BAENENRERFE

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation'
KEEHHBENEE N R ZEMNEEHEFIRA?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

EANTES
Definition of Material®

FTENERT » MRS

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!

REE AR REERRINREER!
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the
management of EAA anticipates that application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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BBMFRELERE 16 SRARIR P
HIEERGREPENXRROSEE
MRBEX - REHEEREESR
EMEN  RERBMEMENER
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AR EHERRBERREEE
MR ENEAEN -

EREEENSRRATE B
B (BT HIIMERERSN) B R
FEXBEBERTE  EHERE
TREHFERE HERAGVYD
BRERBRZNEENTBRETE -
fEfR - HERGK(HFEE) TR
EHEMNZT  ARBEEENRTET
AR - EEREBBY KRS LR
F165%1% - AHEEERABHENNK
HAREAE RFEHD - K2
JIRBEREIT °

BT REBROBANEEA - &
76 B 5 i R B 2B 16 5 K BN _E B
HEETERE 7R HBEASE
ERE - WEEERHEBEAKEE
DEREEHENMERE -

BEAN - BAM B RELERE 165K
FEVEH B EWEE

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(”H KFRSS”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance
leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except
for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
amongst others. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing cash flows.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to
require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease
or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

ENRIEEER 2018-19 Fif

151



B #3E3R Financial Statements

2. BAFETREKIEE] 2&) 2. Application of New and Amendments to

R EZER ([ B AP Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
i&%ﬁﬁu J) (#8) (“HKFRSS") (continued)
ERVBBRELEAE1655HE HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

(&)

20193 A31 8 « tfTsE15 AT As at 31 March 2019, EAA has non-cancellable operating
B EERBANTAREEREM lease commitments of HK$15,422,040 as disclosed in note
EFAYE R 15,422,040 7T © ¥ 2F AT 15. A preliminary assessment indicates that the arrangement
MRA ZELHBEFTEETEHNE will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence
HEEAE16RIBTHENTER EAA will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
FHitt - BRIEEMFSEEEREHE liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for
g EERRMPAELEHERR low value or short-term leases.

EREEERBERARE -

oh EERBARRBE N In addition, EAA currently considers refundable rental
1281016 B TR AR EH SRS R deposits paid of HK$ 1,281,016 as rights and obligations under
BERSTENF17RBEANHEET leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition
M RER - KB BMBEHRESE of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
A 165 THERNESE - Ltz payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
B IEERE RS ENEN S accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may
WKIE - Bt - FiliReWEREE® be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
A AR EBEKA - R BT considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
B AEINEER - HAREND refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the
NHESERSIEHNARETAER carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

REENRESET °

HARENERASIESIELNA Adjustments to refundable rental deposits received would be
BAGRTENBEERNK - considered as advance lease payments.

] 62 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19
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R LFR] MRIERT < TR M5
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HEEBAFE -

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(”H KFRSS”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. EAA has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4 “Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” and has not
applied this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, EAA would not reassess whether
the contracts are, or contain a lease which already existed
prior to the date of initial application. Furthermore, EAA
has elected the modified retrospective approach for the
application of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application to the opening
accumulative reserve without restating comparative
information.

Except as described above, the management anticipates that
the application of above new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material effect on the financial statements.

ERIEEER 2018-19 Fif
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Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Estate Agents
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2.1)

Under HKFRS 15, EAA recognises income when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by EAA’s performance as EAA
performs;

EAA's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as EAA performs; or

EAA's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to EAA and EAA has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2.1) (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents EAA’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which EAA has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from
the customer.

A contract liability relating to the same contract is accounted
for and presented on a net basis.

Income from licence fees

Income from licence fees is recognised over the licence
fees period by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation, as the
licensees simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by EAA's performance as EAA performs.

Income from examination fees

Income from examination fees is recognised at a point in
time at the date of examination when the service is delivered
to candidates.

MENREEER 2018-19 Fi#f
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2.1) (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict EAA’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Income from issuing licences is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the life of the licence.

Income from examinations is recognised on the date of the
examination.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that economic benefits will flow into EAA and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset
to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

EAA as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. In the event that lease
incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit
of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straight-line basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and deprecation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement of
income and expenditure.

ENRIEEER 2018-19 Fif

157



B %33R Financial Stafements

158

3. FESFBER @
BREEZRE

RBERR  EERSBRHEET
BEZEEE UNETESEMR
T EEEC I BEREEND
ReWEETMBEEAIRLE K&
Bt BREEZA RO SR UE
EREBE (A 2EBE - E8E
fEaHE R E ZE 2 f] i B & 586 -
EReMtREEMBRSELE
iz A E 278 o i A HEE B 3 M
— B2 oREE  PREETEWR
DEEER R ELEEN -
SWOMEAEEN—HZ DA
EMm@Al &R EEEMAS

F o

AR B EARFEEREERA
HEREEMELRSE - Nith
EREER A ARKRELRET
ERATAMMR KRR ERLRE - %
R R BB R M ISEH E K EE
ZEHE - REEFFARRBEZRERL

ABNEE 2 BARER

WEE (RBEELEN) KO
SRMGHENEEE - Alei%A
BE (JHSELEN) 2REER
EHAWEIEEE o BEE BRI R

W EER AR o

AR EREERED - AZEEL
BREEARIBINEEERT G A
BlE 58 - HERMRNERENSE
B AL EY B ZIREE (K
REeELBN) BRRBEBEME
BEVRRTEIE © JBU(E &5 18 5k [ B As fg

BAWA e

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, EAA reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, EAA estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the statement of income and
expenditure.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
EAA becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2.2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2)

EAA recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on EAA's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

For all instruments, EAA measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, EAA recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, EAA compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, EAA
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
EAA presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when past due,
unless EAA has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

EAA regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate
to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, EAA considers an
event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
EAA, in full.
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3. FESTHE@® 3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
€T A (B Financial instruments (Continued)

TREE(B) Financial assets (Continued)

EHEERE (REMNT2.2098E Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9

MERE B BEHEEREIH) with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(%)

(iiiy EERESHEE (i) Credit-impaired financial assets
BEEA—"BREZHEESREE A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
Bt ARRBEEREETNTE events of default that have a detrimental impact on
LENEHE  eREELIR the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
SERE- - eREEESEREAE have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
ZEﬁT)fx@%MTﬂ%ﬁm$1¢ : impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

@ BEBARBAEZEXRHS (@) significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
£

b)) BREX WMELHIE (b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
HAZE 14 event;

o EBARBEEBHALIR (© the debtor for economic or contractual reasons
ﬁﬁ%.%ﬁﬁ B Bk relating to the debtor's financial difficulty, having

BHIEHMEG ?Tfi“z/\ granted to the debtor a concession(s) that the

E —MRERTHREA debtor would not otherwise consider;
TERZEBEKME

d) EBEHBABRIERENE (d) it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter
TEMBIHER 5 bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) MR ZIUL S (e) the disappearance of an active market for that
BEERBRMIGHERK - financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

EAA writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under EAA’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
income and expenditure.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to EAA in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
EAA expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

EAA's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Loans and receivables (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018)

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including debtors, deposit paid, time deposits,
bank balance and cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as debtors,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, subsequently, assessed for impairment on a collective
basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include EAA’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period, and observable
changes in local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of debtors, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a
debtor is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to the statement of
income and expenditure.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
the statement of income and expenditure to the extent that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

EAA derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
EAA neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, EAA recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If EAA retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, EAA continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
income and expenditure.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definition of a financial liability.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid on
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including creditors and accruals) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

EAA derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
EAA’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in the statement of income and
expenditure.

Leasing

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees.

A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Employee benefits-provident fund obligations

EAA operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme
are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Both
EAA and the employees are required to contribute 5%
of the employee’s relevant income up to a maximum of
HKS$1,500 (2018: HKS1,500) per employee per month. EAA’s
contributions to the MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

Critical Accounting Judgment and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the process of applying EAA’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management had made the
following judgments that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Impairment assessment of debtors

Debtors are measured at initial recognition at fair value,
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in
the statement of income and expenditure when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

In determining individual allowances, EAA has considered
that detailed procedures have been in place to monitor this
risk. In determining whether impairment assessment of HKAS
39 is required, EAA takes into consideration the aging status,
the likelihood of collection and the estimated discounted
future cash flows. Specific allowance is made for debtors that
are unlikely to be collected. If the financial conditions of these
debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, allowances may be required.
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgment and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Impairment assessment of debtors (Continued)

EAA assesses the internal credit ratings for debtors. Except for
those which had been determined as credit impaired under
HKFRS 9 the ECL of which is assessed individually, debtors
are grouped based on internal credit rating and the ECL on
these assets are assessed collectively using a provision matrix.
The provision rates are based on EAA’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and EAA’s debtors are disclosed in
note 17.

W R & 5. Licence Fees
2019 2018
BT BT
HKS$ HKS
RRRR B BT A Total licence fees 80,971,414 77,302,651

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19
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6. ZRE 6. Examination Fees
2019 2018
BT BT
HKS$ HKS
WEREBREZXESEKES Estate agents and salespersons
qualifying examinations 9,111,200 7,811,550
M AT B AR IEN E Examination for the scheme on mutual
EELERERNTHE)T recognition of professional qualifications
—hEEEERER for estate agents in the Mainland and
AEBUA Hong Kong under the Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement (CEPA) - 420,000
9,111,200 8,231,550
7. BiE 7. Taxation
RIBCHBIER)E 87 & - BB R EAA is exempt from Hong Kong Profits Tax under section 87
HRBATENEN - of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment

BT HENEEE AE BRREE B st
Leasehold Motor Furniture
Building  improvements vehicles  and fixtures Equipment Total
BT BT BT BT BT BT
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AR CoST
R201754R18 At 1 April 2017 = 4598753 557,264 1,770,087 17353203 24279307
NE Additions - 6,880 - - 578076 584956
i Disposals - = = = (2,800) (2,800)
R2018%E3A31H  At31 March 2018 - 4605633 557,64 1,770,087 17928479 24861463
AE Additions 75991930 2474170 = 7946676 425,759 86,838,535
i Disposals - (1,422,839) = (405,931) (82,731) (1911,501)
M2019E38318  At31March 2019 75991930 5,656,964 557,264 9310,832 18271507 109788497
ik DEPRECIATION
R2017F4A18 At 1 April 2017 - 4573362 557,264 1,731,549 13,007,023 19,869,398
FREE Provided for the year - 19,968 - 26067 2,249,586 2295621
sk Eliminated on disposal - - - - (2800) (2800)
P2018E3H318  At31March 2018 = 4593330 557,264 1,757,616 15,254,009 22,162,219
ENEE Provided for the year 1473401 355,550 - 1,028,262 2,140,863 4998,076
ki Eliminated on disposals - (1422839) - (405,931) (82,731) (1911,501)
R2019F3H318  At31March 2019 1473401 3,526,041 557,264 2379947 17312141 25,048,794
REE NET BOOK VALUES
P2019E38318  At31 March 2019 74518529 2130923 = 6,930,885 959,366 84,539,703
Ro018%E3A31H  At31 March 2018 = 12303 = 12471 2674470 2,699,244

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19



Bt &R 3% Financial Statements

VI ~ B NRE @

MR - HEs R EITE TR E AR
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Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates

per annum:

Building 2%

Leasehold 20% or over the period of the lease
improvements term if it is less than 5 years

Motor vehicles 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Equipment 20% to 30%

Deposit Paid for Acquisition of Property,
Plant and Equipment

On 15 March 2018, EAA entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to purchase an
office premise and car parking spaces at the consideration of
HKS$70,000,000. As at 31 March 2018, EAA had paid deposit
of HKS$7,000,000 in accordance with the sale and purchase
agreement, and other related cost of total HK$5,950,210. The
acquisition was completed on 12 April 2018
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10. RITERR AT REHEF

11.

12.
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RITHEKRMRSEOREEERFEA
ZRERHBTHHARI1ZE67H
(20184F : 11 &E58H) ' RER TS
FEFEANT0.03% = 2.5% (2018 £F :
NF001% E1.1%) 518 2 FHIERTT

R2019F3 A31H ' AEEBESEK
AN ZE T #EFF— 299,611,085 %
JCH E £ (20184 120,297,545 7%
L) c EERBERHANE SN
BHEBEER  E2eNeBHERB
R ©

THERBEATEHBAAEI20E
130 H (20184 : 1598 ) * K E R
TIHERRNTF 2.09% = 2.3%(2018
F 0 1.15%) 5t E 2 REIRI TSR o

EERRR%FEEC REERA
NHEERS -

AEFEUT A

EEWA T E IR IR IR B K
HIBR 2 RRE - REERHEA
PR R PR IE -

E W IR R R

% TR IR Ty e i E I A [F) e AR
BB IR - HERBAEY
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10. Bank Balances and Cash and Time

11.

12.

Deposits

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by EAA and
short-term bank deposits with remaining tenure of 11 to 67
days (2018: 11 to 58 days) at prevailing market interest rates
ranging from 0.03% to 2.5% per annum (2018: 0.01% to 1.1%
per annum).

As at 31 March 2019, a fund of HKS$99,611,085 (2018:
HKS$120,297,545) was maintained for the acquisition of
permanent office accommodation in future. The amount of
the fund is determined at the discretion of EAA after setting
aside sufficient fund for sustaining its operation.

Time deposits comprise short-term bank deposits with
remaining tenure of 120 to 130 days (2018: 159 days) at
prevailing market interest rates ranging from 2.09% to 2.3%
per annum (2018: 1.15% per annum).

EAA considers that the carrying amounts of these assets
approximate their fair values.

Deferred Income

Deferred income represented licence fees received from
estate agents for a validity period, which were deferred
according to EAA’s income recognition policy.

Licence Application Fees Received

These represented amounts paid by estate agents applying
for the licences which were still being processed but not yet
approved at the end of the reporting period.



Bt &R 3% Financial Statements

13. BHEE 13. Contract Liabilities
2019 2018
3A31H 4718
31 March 2019 1 April 2018
BT BT
HKS$ HKS
(Pf3E)
(Note)
IEILRRRR B U A Deferred licence fees income 64,457,573 62,921,218
DU R R R 5 IR Licence application fee received 3,792,382 4,235,492
68,249,955 67,156,710
MERE
Licence fees
2019
BT
HK$
BRERHERERARS Licence fee income recognised that was included in the
FYNE B EER contract liability balance at the beginning of the year 53,392,956
BisE R BmEHR - 11192713 B THE X Note: At the end of the reporting period, contract liabilities amounting
B & (20184 : 13,763,754 7t ) FE HA to HKS$11,192,713 (2018: HK$13,763,754) were not expected to be
TER|EHRES T ZEANHE realised within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
R AR EEEERBEBUE The amounts in this column are after the adjustments from the
AR E 15 HBIEL AR application of HKFRS 15.
14, EAEYE 14. Capital Commitments
2019 2018
BT BT
HKS$ HKS
TREEWE  MEKERE Capital expenditure in respect of the
ZEBERAZ (BRMEES acquisition of property, plant and
Fraf) equipment, as stated in note 9:
— BRI EREMFREKF — contracted but not provided for
B in the financial statements = 63,000,000

wEREEES 20181058 | //
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15.

16.
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15.

Operating Lease Commitments

At the end of the reporting period, EAA had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due
as follows:

2019 2018

BT BT

HKS$ HKS

—&F R Within one year 5,693,400 5,465,680
FEFRF(RIFEEEME) Inthe second to fifth year inclusive 9,728,640 —
15,422,040 5,465,680

GEHERANEE B AR ER
R Hs - HERESTHES
(2018 1 =) EE K -

EAERERE

EERMEATERREEMKILMN
RETEBNREL - EEAETENE
HEEMREE BEFELE - U
RAMEREBENZERFREFK
T o

EEREHRILERHLEARR
B AEREERAXENEEMN
FEEREARF L LERBEL
MBHRETEEIRER - BT HE
HRANE S AR EEFER - #
F—F2EE  UWERRBEXANR

AE o

WEREESFAMNEE RN ER
g EERTENRAIEINERERN
FE URRZEVEESESFK -

16.

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by EAA
for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated for
and rentals are fixed for an average term of three years (2018:
three years).

Capital Risk Management

EAA's capital comprises primarily the fund accumulated
since its establishment, and its objective when managing
the capital is to ensure that EAA will be able to continue as a
going concern so that it can continue to promote integrity
and competence of estate agents.

EAA regularly reviews and manages its capital to ensure
adequacy for both the operational and capital needs. EAA
operates a zero distribution policy with regard to surpluses
generated. EAA maintains a fund for the acquisition of
permanent office accommodation in future after setting
aside sufficient fund for sustaining EAA’s operation.

EAA charges annual licence fees on the estate agents. EAA
regularly reviews the need to increase licence fees to ensure
operational needs are fully covered.
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17. Financial Instruments

/T AR a. Categories of financial instruments
2019 2018
BT BT
HKS$ HKS
EREE Financial assets:
B3 WA Loan and receivables
L {th FE WK Sundry receivables - 1,193,493
[=ANE & Deposit paid — 2,132,268
THER - RITERRES Time deposits, bank balances
and cash - 233,179,990
IR EC SR EE Financial assets at amortised cost
H fth B Uk Sundry receivables 1,840,324 -
Bff&E Deposit paid 1,417,026 -
EHTER - RITEHRKEA S Time deposits, bank balances
and cash 180,259,915 -
183,517,265 236,505,751
sRaE Financial liabilities:
BHACAR Amortised costs
FERTBR R Creditors 11,350,420 8,785,617
cREREERERBER b. Financial risk management objectives and

EERZIZCRIABEH
WK - EMTFSR - R1THE
7% BENENERR - ZF2
BTAFBRS B EWE -
ZETMIAZERRRBRE
miZRER (B MEER)
EERBREREBESRER - a0
R % F R R O BRE N T
X EEBERENMEEZFR
@ AFELR A M MBI E
& Fa i o

policies

EAA’s major financial instruments include sundry
receivables, time deposits, bank balances and cash
and creditors. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(including interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are
implemented in timely and effective manner.
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17. Financial Instruments (continued)

b'

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Cash flow interest rate risk

EAA is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through
the impact of rate changes on interest bearing financial
assets. Interest bearing financial assets are mainly
balances with banks which are all short term in nature.
Therefore, any future variation in interest rates will not
have a significant impact on the results of EAA.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to EAA. EAA’s exposure of its
counterparties are continuously monitored, received
and approved.

In order to minimise the credit risk, EAA reviews the
recoverable amount of the receivables at the end
of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, EAA considers that EAA’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

In determining the ECL for debtors, EAA has taken into
account the historical default experience and forward-
looking information, as appropriate. EAA has considered
the consistently low historical default rate and
concluded that credit risk is inherent in EAA’s sundry
receivable. EAA has further assessed sundry receivables
have not had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and risk of default is insignificant, and
therefore, no impairment has been recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no material
impairment allowance on deposit paid is provided
based on the ECL assessment.
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17. Financial Instruments (continued)

cREAKREEEERBEK b.
(%&) policies (Continued)
EERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)

ERERERBES ZEER
BTN RARXZEHFREA
RUFBBZRIT °

EERAREERR

SIFERIAERK :

REREERFAR

Internal credit rating

BETAE T

reputation.

the following categories:

3
Description

Financial risk management objectives and

The credit risk on time deposits and liquid funds is
limited because the counterparties are banks with good

EAA’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

HitEmERE

Other financial assets

BT

Performing

ERYE
Watch list

5

Doubtful

EiE

Loss

Write-off

RGUFH 2 EHRRRIE - BV EEBHRETIEA
The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have
any past-due amounts

RENIHRREEMBENEH B REMNEOER -
Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle
after due date

RIBREIK 2 EREINBETR -
DYSEE

There have been significant increases in credit risk since

EERKE B iR

initial recognition through information developed
internally or external resources

BEBBRTAELTREERE

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

BEBRNESARHBRENRARLEER

Bl e

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe

o
SR

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery

T ERAEHEERE
12-month ECL

T ERABEHEEEE
12-month ECL

FHRREEER
—BEERE
Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired

FHRMEEEE
—BEERE
Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired

TR E 6

Amount is written off

WEREESS 2018-19 8 | O |
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b.

17. Financial Instruments (continued)

tREREEEERBE b. Financial risk management objectives and
(%&) policies (Continued)
EERE (&) Credit risk (Continued)
TRHFMEEREREE (A The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
ETHRBEEEENM)ME of EAA’s financial assets which are subject to ECL
BRZEERR : assessment:
TZEA%2HES
R2019F3A31H HMMEETR  ABEETR FEEF#E REAE
External credit  Internal credit 12-month Gross carrying
At 31 March 2019 rating rating or lifetime ECL amount
PifaE BT
Note HKS
REERAARNEREE
Financial assets at amortised cost
HA KK A B11(fiEa) TZ{EAEREEER 1,840,324
Sundry receivables N/A Performing (notea) ~ 12-month ECL
Bff&e NEA ESIGETY TZEABREESSE 1417026
Deposit paid N/A Performing (notea)  12-month ECL
EHER  BEskRe 10 ABEA3 NiEH TZEAEMEEBE 180259915
Time deposits, bank balances Aa3to A3 N/A 12-month ECL
and cash
5T Note:

@ FAMEERREEME @ &
B B PR 28 A O EAth MR
ENfRENTBER - L}(Eﬂﬁ
BRERREERRESR
e pill

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY ~ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, EAA uses
the financial information of the past-due information of sundry
receivables and deposit paid to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
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17. Financial Instruments (continued)

tREREEREEREX b. Financial risk management objectives and
(%) policies (Continued)
REBESRER Liquidity risk
EEREEEHRBECRER Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
BERKRERRMT  FEEH rests with management of EAA, which has built an
EERZER PHERRHAE appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
ERRBECERREREE the management of EAA's short, medium and long-
ExnBEeRBEEESR - term funding and liquidity management requirements.
EEREEEABREREN Management of EAA manages liquidity risk by
A R R A B 5 TROR R B R maintaining adequate reserve and continuously
Reneg  UEBRDHELR monitors the forecast and actual cash flows.
Bz o
TR EERIITEESHE The following table details EAA's remaining contractual
BE2HRTELNEER - 5Z&TD maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities on the
BREEERAIHERNEH agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn
BECFHBRE - AR up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
PRIBEZRMRRERE - liabilities based on the earliest date on which EAA can
be required to pay.
IEES AERAE
BIRRAI= 0830k 31F180% REAE fREE
Weighted
average Total
effective undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 0-30days  31-180 days cash flows amount
% HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
2019F 2019
AR Creditors - 10,806,331 544,089 11,350,420 11,350,420
2018 2018
JERTBRR Creditors - 8222017 563,600 8785617 8785617

ENREEEER 2018-19 Fif
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17. Financial Instruments (continued)

c.

Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

EAA considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the financial statements approximate their
corresponding fair values.
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